THESIS REPORT

Master's Degree



Supported by the National Science Foundation Engineering Research Center Program (NSFD CD 8803012), Industry and the University

Asymptotic Behavior in Nonlinear Stochastic Filtering

by L. Saydy Advisor: G.L. Blankenship

M.S. 87-8 Formerly TR 87-183

ASYMPTOTIC BEHAVIOR IN NONLINEAR STOCHASTIC FILTERING

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{y}$

L. Saydy ¹

and

G.L. Blankenship ²

ABSTRACT

A lower and upper bound approach on the optimal mean square error is used to study the asymptotic behavior of one dimensional nonlinear filters. Two aspects are treated: (1) The long time behavior $(t \to \infty)$. (2) The asymptotic behavior as a small parameter $\epsilon \to 0$. Lower and upper bounds that satisfy Riccati equations are derived and it is shown that for nonlinear systems with linear limiting systems, the Kalman filter designed for the limiting systems is asymptotically optimal in a reasonnable sense. In the case of nonlinear systems with low measurement noise level, three asymptotically optimal filters are provided one of which is linear. In chapter 4, the stationary behavior of the Benes filter is investigated.

¹ Electrical Engineering Department and Systems Research Center, University Of Maryland, College Park, MD, 20742. This work supported in part by NSF Grant CDR-85-00108

² Electrical Engineering Department and Systems Research Center, University Of Maryland, College Park, MD, 20742.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1 Introduction
- 2 Lower and upper bounds on the a priori MMSE
 - 2.1 Lower bound
 - 2.2 Upper bound and bound optimal filter (BOF)
 - 2.2.1 Upper bounds for incrementally conic nonlinearities
 - 2.2.2 Upper bounds for one dimensional systems
 - **2.3** Summary
- 3 Asymptotically time invariant systems
 - 3.1 Asymptotic optimality of the BOF
 - 3.2 Asymptotic optimality of the KF
- 4 Stationary behavior of the Benes filter
 - 4.1 Problem statement
 - 4.2 A partial result
- **5** Perturbed systems
 - **5.1** Weakly nonlinear systems
 - 5.1.1 Asymptotic optimality of the BOF
 - **5.1.2** Asymptotic optimality of the KF
 - 5.2 Low measurement noise level
- 6 Conclusion

1 INTRODUCTION; OVERVIEW

The filtering problem for diffusion processes involves the estimation of an unobserved stochastic process $\{x_t\}$ given observations of a related process $\{y_t\}$. The classic formulation involves the computation, for each t, of conditional statistics such as the conditional mean and variance of $\{x_t\}$ given observations in additive white noise.

A typical model is

$$dx_t = g(t, x_t) dt + \sigma(t) dw_t$$

$$dy_t = h(t, x_t) dt + \rho(t) dv_t$$

$$x(0) = x_0 ; 0 \le t \le T$$
(1)

where g, h, α and ρ are smooth functions of their arguments, $\{v_t\}$, $\{w_t\}$ are independent Wiener processes, x_0 a random variable independent of $\{v_t\}$, $\{w_t\}$.

Given this model one is interested in computing least squares estimates of functions of the signal x_t given σ { y_s , $0 \le s \le t$ }, the σ -algebra generated by the observations, i.e. quantities of the form $E [\phi(x_t) \mid \sigma \{y_s \mid 0 \le s \le t \}]$. In many applications this computation must be done recursively. This involves the conditional probability density $p^y(t,x)$ which satisfies a nonlinear stochastic partial differential equation, the Kushner-Stratonovich equation [1].

The filtering problem was completely solved in the context of finite dimensional linear Gaussian systems by Kalman and Bucy [2], [3] in 1960-61, and the resulting Kalman filter (KF) has been widely applied. Apart from a few special cases [4], [5] the nonlinear case is far more complicated; the evolution of the conditional statistics is, in general, an infinite dimensional system.

By factoring $p^y(t,x) = u(t,x) / \int u(t,z) dz$, a characterization of p^y may be obtained via the unnormalized conditional probability density u(t,x) which solves the

Duncan-Mortenson-Zakai (DMZ) equation [6], a linear parabolic stochastic PDE driven by the observation process. A further transformation, $u(t,x) = v(t,x) \exp(-h(t,x), y_t) >$, eliminates the stochastic differentials in this equation resulting in the robust equation (RDMZ) [6] which may be analyzed by classical methods for parabolic PDE's. This is one of the key factors making the DMZ equation a useful basis for the study of nonlinear filtering of diffusion processes.

Although progress has been made using these tools, optimal algorithms are not generally available. Suboptimal filters are thus of interest. The performance of suboptimal designs, however derived, may be based on lower and upper bounds on the minimum mean square error (MMSE) P(t). This approach is used in this thesis to investigate the asymptotic behavior of a class of nonlinear filtering problems.

Two aspects are treated in detail:

- (1) the long time behavior, that is, the asymptotic behavior of the filter as $t \to \infty$.
- (2) the asymptotic behavior as $\epsilon \to 0$, with ϵ a small parameter in the model.

To illustrate the ideas, consider the one-dimensional version of the model above where g and h have continuous bounded derivatives, say

$$\underline{\alpha}(t) \leq g_x(t,x) \leq \overline{\alpha}(t)$$
 (2-a)

$$\underline{\beta}(t) \leq h_x(t,x) \leq \overline{\beta}(t)$$
 (2-b)

and let

$$p(t) := E [x_t - E(x_t | \mathcal{Y}_0^t)]^2$$

$$p^*(t) := E (x_t - x_t^*)^2$$
(3)

where $y_0^t = \sigma \left\{ y_s , 0 \leq s \leq t
ight.
ight\}$ and x_t^* is given by :

$$dx_{t}^{*} = g(t, x_{t}^{*})dt + \frac{\beta(t)}{\rho^{2}(t)} u(t)[dy_{t} - h(t, x_{t}^{*})dt] ; x^{*}(0) = 0$$

$$\dot{u}(t) = \sigma^{2}(t) + 2\overline{\alpha}(t) u(t) - \frac{\beta^{2}(t)}{\rho^{2}(t)} u^{2}(t) ; u(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$

$$(x_{0} \sim N(0, \sigma_{0}^{2}) \quad assumed)$$
(BOF)

Clearly the BOF (bound optimal filter) is readily implementable, with precomputable gain. It coincides with the Kalman filter if g and h are linear. In Chapter 2 it is shown by applying results from [9], [10] that the BOF is a "best bound" filter in the sense that the associated upper bound u(t) of $p^*(t)$ is the tightest over a class of nonlinear Kalman-like filters and that p(t) is bounded as follow:

$$0 \leq l(t) \leq p(t) \leq p^*(t) \leq u(t)$$

where l(t) satisfies another Riccati equation.

In Chapter 3 these bounds are used to address the long time behavior of asymptotically time invariant systems. In the particular case where

$$g(t,x) = a x + \lambda(t) f(t,x)$$
 -----> $a x$

and

$$h(t,x) = c x + \nu(t) k(t,x)$$
 -----> $c x$

it is shown that the BOF is asymptotically optimal, i.e., $\lim_{t\to\infty} (p^*(t)-p(t)) = 0$ and that as far as the long time performance is concerned, the nonlinearities f and k can be ignored in the original model. In other words the "KF" and even the "SSKF" (steady state) designed for the underlying linear system are asymptotically optimal.

In chapter 3, we consider the stationary behavior of the Benes filter [4]. Benes proved that if

$$dx_t = f(x_t) dt + dw_t , x_0 = x$$

$$dy_t = x_t dt + dv_t$$

with

$$f_x(x) + f^2(x) = ax^2 + bx + c$$
; $a \ge 0$

then the filtering problem is completely specified by two sufficient statistics, in that the solution to the DMZ equation is given by:

$$u(t,x) = \exp \left\{ \int_0^x f(z) dz - \frac{1}{2} \frac{(x-\mu_t)^2}{\sigma(t)} \right\}$$

where

$$\dot{\sigma}(t) = 1 - k^2 \sigma^2(t)$$
 ; $\sigma(0) = 0$
 $d \mu_t = -k^2 \sigma(t) \mu_t dt - \frac{1}{2} b \sigma(t) dt + \sigma(t) dy_t$
 $\mu_0 = x$; $k = (1 + a)^{1/2}$

We then note that $\lim_{t \to \infty} \sigma(t) = \frac{1}{k} := \overline{\sigma}$ and define

$$\overline{u}(t,x) = \exp \left\{ \int_0^x f(z)dz - \frac{1}{2} \frac{(x-\overline{\mu}_t)^2}{\overline{\sigma}} \right\}$$

where

$$d \, \overline{\mu}_t = -k^2 \, \overline{\sigma} \, \overline{\mu}_t \, dt - \frac{1}{2} \, b \, \overline{\sigma} \, dt + \overline{\sigma} \, dy_t \, ; \, \overline{\mu}_0 = x$$

as a natural limiting function of the unnormalized density u(t,x) and we prove that $\lim_{t\to\infty} E(\mu_t - \overline{\mu}_t)^2 = 0$. (Note that this is not a complete characterization of the asymptotic behavior of the Benes filtering problem).

The bound approach combined with perturbation methods is used in Chapter 5 to treat two types of perturbed systems; namely, weakly nonlinear systems [12], i.e., those for which

$$g(t,x) = a(t)x + \epsilon f(t,x)$$
; $h(t,x) = c(t)x$

where ϵ is a small positive parameter; and systems with low measurement noise level [13], [14], [15] that is of the form

$$dx_t = g(t,x_t) dt + \sigma(t) dw_t$$

$$dy_t = c(t) x_t dt + \epsilon dv_t$$

For the former type it is shown that the BOF is asymptotically optimal in the sense that the corresponding MMSE $p^*(t,\epsilon)$ is identical to $p(t,\epsilon)$ up to $O(\epsilon)$; and that the "KF" designed for the underlying linear system (i.e., ignoring ϵf) is asymptotically optimal as $\epsilon \to 0$. In the case of low measurement noise level, three asymptotically optimal algorithms are provided, one of which has the very simple form

$$dx_t^L = \frac{\sigma(t)}{\epsilon} \{ dy_t - c(t) x_t^L dt \} ; x_0^L = 0$$

which does not involve the drift g.

2 LOWER AND UPPER BOUNDS ON THE A PRIORI MMSE

Since the explicit solution of nonlinear filtering problems is impossible in general, one is naturally interested in suboptimal solutions, the performance of which may be avaluated using upper and lower bounds on the (unknown) MMSE.

In fact, the structural complexity which arises is also present at the level of performance testing in the sense that simple and tractable bounds are not generally available for suboptimal estimators unless one puts further restrictions on the type of nonlinearities considered.

Consider the n dimensional Itô stochastic differential equation

$$dx_{t} = g(t,x_{t}) dt + B(t) dw_{t} , t \geq 0$$

$$dy_{t} = h(t,x_{t}) dt + D(t) dv_{t}$$

$$x_{0} \sim p_{0}(x) , E x_{0} = 0 , E x_{0}x_{0}^{T} = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$
(1)

where $\{w_t\}$ and $\{v_t\}$ are independent standard wiener processes, $x_0 = x(0)$ is a random variable (generally taken to be Gaussian) independent of $\{w_t\}$ and $\{v_t\}$; g and h are such (1) has a unique solution. Given this model one is interested in finding bounds on the MMSE:

$$P(t) = E \left[(x_t - E(x_t \mid y_0^t)) (x_t - E(x_t \mid y_0^t))^T \right]$$
 (2)

where $y_0^t = \sigma \{ y_s , 0 \le s \le t \}$ is the σ -algebra generated by the observations up to time t, i.e., find matrices L(t), U(t) such that :

$$0 \le L(t) \le P(t) \le U(t) \tag{3}$$

where the matrix inequality $X \geq Y$ should be understood as (X-Y) is positive semi-definite.

In this chapter, existing results are applied to one dimensional systems for which the nonlinearities have bounded derivatives to obtain lower and upper bounds involving ordinary differential equations of the Riccati type. The upper bound is derived in section 2-2 by considering a class of nonlinear, Kalman-like suboptimal filters.

To each such filter is associated an upper bound on the corresponding MSE and the BOF (bound optimal filter) is defined as the one with the tightest upper bound. The latter is used in (3).

2-1 Lower bound:

We consider (1) with the same assumptions stated there. In addition it is assumed that:

- (1) g and h are differentiable with continuous, bounded partial derivatives
- (2) B(t) and D(t) are non singular
- 3) $p_0(x)$ satisfies the assumptions of Theorem (4) in [9] (e.g., (3) holds if x_0 is Gaussian)

Associated with (1) is the following linear system:

$$dz_t = A(t) z_t dt + B(t) dw_t$$

$$dy_t = C(t) z_t dt + D(t) dv_t$$

$$z_0 \sim N(0, \sigma_0^2)$$
(4)

where:

$$A(t) = E g_x(t, x_t)$$

$$C^{T}(t)[D(t)D^{T}(t)]^{-1}C(t) =$$
(5)

$$E \left[(g_x(t,x_t) - A(t))^T (B_t^T B_t)^{-1} (g_x(t,x_t) - A(t)) + h_x^T (t,x_t) (D_t^T D_t)^{-1} h_x(t,x_t) \right]$$
 (6)

Let

$$P(t) = E \left[(x_t - E(x_t \mid y_0^t)) (x_t - E(x_t \mid y_0^t))^T \right]$$
 (7)

and

$$L(t) = E \left[(z_t - E(z_t \mid \hat{y}_0)) (z_t - E(z_t \mid \hat{y}_0))^T \right]$$
 (8)

then the following result, due to B. Z. Bobrovsky and M. Zakai [9], holds

Theorem 2-1-1: The MMSE in the original problem (1) is lower bounded by the MMSE corresponding to the associated linear one (4), i.e.,

$$0 \leq L(t) \leq P(t)$$

* * *

Note: Recall that (e.g., [16])

$$\dot{L}(t) = B(t)B^{T}(t) + A(t)L(t) + L(t)A^{T}(t) - L(t)C^{T}(t)(D(t)D^{T}(t))^{-1}C(t)L(t)
L(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2} \qquad (\in \mathbb{R}^{nxn})$$
(10)

furthermore $\hat{z}_t := E \; (\; z_t \; | \; \hat{oldsymbol{\hat{y}}}_0^t \;)$ is given by :

$$d\hat{z}_{t} = A(t) \hat{z}_{t} dt + G(t) [d\tilde{y}_{t} - C(t) \hat{z}_{t} dt] , \hat{z}_{0} = 0$$

$$G(t) = L(t) C(t) (D(t) D^{T}(t))^{-1}$$
(11)

which is the Kalman filter (KF).

The one dimensional case:

Since the coefficients A(t) and C(t) are in general unknown, the lower bound L(t) cannot be computed exactly for a general n-dimensional system. The following additional assumptions make it possible to derive a simple, tractable lower bound in the one dimensional case:

$$H_1: \qquad | g_x(t,x) - \alpha(t) | \leq \Delta \alpha(t)$$

$$H_2:$$
 $| h_x(t,x) - \beta(t) | \leq \Delta \beta(t)$, $\underline{\beta}(t) = \beta(t) - \Delta \beta(t) \geq 0$

We will denote this by:

$$g \in \langle [\alpha(t), \Delta \alpha(t)] \rangle$$

 $h \in \langle [\beta(t), \Delta \beta(t)] \rangle$

Note: the symbol Δ has no particular mathematical meaning here, it is used only to exhibit the fact that $\Delta \alpha$ is a slope departure function.

Let the scalar system be:

$$dx_t = g(t, x_t) dt + \sigma(t) dw_t$$

$$dy_t = h(t, x_t) dt + \rho(t) dv_t$$

$$E x_0 = 0 , E x_0^2 = \sigma_0^2$$
(14)

with similar assumptions as in (1).

Proposition 2-1-2:

Assume H_1 , H_2 hold and let $p(t) := E(x_t - E(x_t \mid y_0^t))^2$; then p(t) is lower bounded by l(t), i.e., $0 \le l(t) \le \hat{p}(t)$ where l(t) satisfies the following Riccati equation:

$$\dot{l}(t) = \sigma^2(t) + 2\underline{\alpha}(t)l(t) - \frac{1}{\rho^2(t)} \left[\overline{\beta}^2(t) + 4\frac{\rho^2(t)}{\sigma^2(t)} (\Delta\alpha(t))^2 \right] l^2(t)
l(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
(15)

with the notation : $\overline{\alpha} = \alpha + \Delta \alpha$, $\underline{\alpha} = \alpha - \Delta \alpha$

* * *

Proof:

From Theorem 2-1-1 we have $L(t) \leq p(t)$ where

$$\dot{L}(t) = \sigma^{2}(t) + 2a(t)L(t) - \frac{c^{2}(t)}{\rho^{2}(t)}L^{2}(t)$$

$$L(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$

$$a = E g_{x}(t,x_{t})$$

$$c^{2}(t) = E h_{x}^{2}(t,x_{t}) + \frac{\rho^{2}(t)}{\sigma^{2}(t)} var(g_{x}(t,x_{t}))$$

Clearly H_1 implies: $\underline{\alpha}(t) \leq g_x \leq \overline{\alpha}(t)$ a.s., and hence, $\underline{\alpha}(t) \leq a(t) \leq \overline{\alpha}(t)$.

Thus

$$|g_x(t,x_t)-a(t)| \leq 2 \Delta \alpha(t)$$
 a.s

and

$$var g_x(t,x_t) \leq 4 (\Delta \alpha(t))^2$$

Similarly H_2 implies: $0 \le \underline{\beta}(t) \le h_x(t, x_t) \le \overline{\beta}(t)$

hence $E h_x^2(t, x_t) \leq \overline{\beta}^2(t)$.

Therefore:

$$c^{2}(t) \leq \overline{\beta}^{2}(t) + 4 \frac{\rho^{2}(t)}{\sigma^{2}(t)} (\Delta \alpha(t))^{2}$$

Since by Theorem 3 in the appendix $L\left(t
ight)>0$, the right hand side of $\dot{L}\left(t
ight)$ is greater than

$$\sigma^2(t\,)\,+\,2\underline{lpha}(t\,)L\,(t\,)-rac{1}{
ho^2(t\,)}\,\left[\,\,\overline{eta}^2(t\,)\,+\,4rac{
ho^2(t\,)}{\sigma^2(t\,)}\,(\Deltalpha(t\,))^2\,\,
ight]\,L^{\,2}$$

By the comparison theorem we obtain: $l(t) \leq L(t)$

* * *

2.2 Upper bound and bound optimal filter (BOF)

In [10], A. S. Gilman and I. B. Rhodes derived upper bounds on the minimum mean square error (MMSE) for systems of the form

$$dx_{t} = g(t,x_{t}) dt + B(t) dw_{t}$$

$$dy_{t} = h(t,x_{t}) dt + D(t) dv_{t}$$

$$E x_{0} = 0 , E x_{0}x_{0}^{T} = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$
(16)

where g and h are incrementally conic nonlinearities i.e. satisfy the following hypotheses:

There exist matrices $A\left(t\right)$, $C\left(t\right)$ and positive functions a and c such that

$$| \mid g(t,x+\delta) - g(t,x) - A(t)\delta \mid | \leq a(t) \mid \delta |$$
 (17)

$$| \mid h(t,x+\lambda) - h(t,x) - C(t)\lambda \mid | \leq c(t) \mid \lambda \mid$$
 (18)

for each $\ t$, x , δ and λ .

An outline of this work and its applications to the one dimensional case, for which better bounds can be achieved, is given in the next two sections.

2-2-1 Upper bounds for incrementally conic nonlinearities: [10]

Let us consider (16) with the assumptions (17) and (18) which will be respectively denoted by:

$$g \in IC [A(t), a(t)]$$

$$h \in IC [C(t), c(t)]$$

The upper bound for such systems was derived in [10] by considering the following class of suboptimal filters which is suggested, in part, by the Kalman filter:

$$dx_t^K = g(t, x_t^K) dt + K(t) [dy_t - h(t, x_t^K) dt]$$

$$x_t^K = 0$$
(19)

where K(t) is a non random, piecewise continuous bounded matrix.

Thus to each gain K(t) is associated a suboptimal filter given by (19), which we denote by $\{x\}_K$. The main results are as follows:

(1) For each K(.) there exist an upper bound matrix U^K such that:

$$P_K(t) := E[(x_t - x_t^K)(x_t - x_t^K)^T] \le U^K(t)$$

and U^K satisfies the following linear matrix equation (where the time dependence is omitted):

$$\dot{U}^{K} = BB^{T} + KDD^{T}K + (A - KC)U^{K} + U^{K}(A - KC)^{T}
+ (a + c)U^{K} + a tr(U^{K})I + c tr(U^{K})KK^{T}
U_{K}(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$
(20)

(2) The suboptimal filter $\{x\}_{K^*}$ defined by :

$$K^* = U^* C^T W^{-1} (21)$$

$$\dot{U}^* = V + \tilde{A}U^* + U^*\tilde{A}^T - U^*\tilde{C}^T W^{-1}\tilde{C}U^* \quad ; \quad U^*(0) = \sigma_0^2 \tag{22}$$

$$\tilde{A} = A + \frac{1}{2}(a + c)I$$
 (23)

$$V = B B^T + a \operatorname{tr}(U^*) I \tag{24}$$

$$W = D D^T + c \operatorname{tr}(U^*) I \tag{25}$$

has the smallest upper bound i.e.:

$$P_{K^*}(t) \leq U^{K^*}(t) = U^*(t) \leq U^K(t)$$

for every K

Remarks:

- (1) This says that $U^{K^*} = U^*$ is the smallest element of the family of upper bounds defined by (20).
- (2) The resulting filter $\{x\}_{K^*}$ given by (19), (21)-(25) has the smallest upper bound and can thus be referred to as a bound optimal filter (BOF) or the BOF relative to the family of upper bounds (20). This point will become clearer in the next section.

(3) We obviously have:

$$P(t) := E[(x_t - E(x_t \mid \mathcal{Y}_0^t))(x_t - E(x_t \mid \mathcal{Y}_0^t)^T] \le P_{K^*}(t) \le U^*(t)$$
(26)

(4) Application to scalar systems:

Let

$$dx_{t} = g(t, x_{t}) dt + \sigma(t) dw_{t}$$

$$dy_{t} = h(t, x_{t}) dt + \rho(t) dw_{t}$$

$$E x_{0} = 0 , E x_{0}^{2} = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$
(27)

where

$$g \in IC \ [\alpha(t), \Delta\alpha(t)]$$
 and $h \in IC \ [\beta(t), \Delta\beta(t)].$

Then one easily gets by applying the above results that the smallest element u^* of the family of upper bounds

$$\dot{u}_k = \sigma^2 + \rho^2 k^2 + 2 \left(\overline{\alpha} - k \underline{\beta} \right) u^k + \Delta \beta \left(k - 1 \right)^2 u^k
u_k(0) = \sigma_0^2 ; \overline{\alpha} = \alpha + \Delta \alpha ; \underline{\beta} = \beta - \Delta \beta$$
(28)

is given by

$$\dot{u}^* = \sigma^2 + 2 \left[\overline{\alpha} + \Delta \beta \right] u^* - \frac{\beta^2}{\rho^2 + u^* \Delta \beta} (u^*)^2$$

$$u^*(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
(29)

The BOF relative to (28) being

$$dx_{t}^{*} = g(t, x_{t}^{*}) dt + \frac{\beta(t) u^{*}(t)}{\rho^{2}(t) + u^{*}(t) \Delta \beta(t)} [dy_{t} - h(t, x_{t}^{*}) dt]$$

$$x_{0}^{*} = 0$$
(30)

and we have:

$$p(t) := E (x_t - E(x_t | \mathcal{Y}_0^t))^2 \leq p_k \cdot (t) := E (x_t - x_t^*)^2 \leq u^*(t).$$

It is however possible to derive a simpler and tighter upper bound, hence a better BOF, in the scalar case as is shown in the next section.

2-2-2 Upper bounds for one dimensional systems:

Let x_t and y_t be given by (27) and assume that

$$H_1 : g_x(t,x) \quad \text{is continuous and} \quad g_x(t,x) \leq \overline{\alpha}(t)$$
 (31)

$$H_2$$
: $h_x(t,x)$ is continuous and $h_x(t,x) \ge \underline{\beta}(t) \ge 0$ (32)

Notice that $\ H_1$, $\ H_2$ hold if $\ f$ and $\ g$ are incrementally conic.

Proposition 2-2-1:

The MMSE p(t) is upper bounded by u(t) where u(t) satisfies the Riccati equation:

$$\dot{u}(t) = \sigma^2(t) + 2 \overline{\alpha}(t) u(t) - \frac{\underline{\beta}^2(t)}{\rho^2(t)} u^2(t)
u(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
(33)

* * *

Note: This says that the MMSE in the nonlinear filtering problem (27) is upper bounded by the MMSE in the following linear one:

$$dz_t = \overline{\alpha}(t) z_t dt + \sigma(t) dw_t$$

$$d\overline{y}_t = \underline{\beta}(t) z_t dt + \rho(t) dv_t$$
(34)

Proof:

The conditional mean $\hat{x}_t := E \left(x_t \mid \mathcal{oldsymbol{y}}_0^t
ight)$ and the conditional MMSE

$$\hat{p}_t := E [(x_t - \hat{x}_t)^2 | y_0^t]$$
 (35)

are given by: [1]

$$d\hat{x}_{t} = \hat{g}(t, x_{t}) dt + \frac{\hat{e}_{t}}{\rho^{2}(t)} d\overline{w}_{t} ; \quad \hat{x}_{0} = 0$$
 (35)

$$d\hat{p}_{t} = \left[\sigma^{2}(t) + 2((x_{t} g_{t})^{\hat{}} - \hat{x}_{t} \hat{g}_{t}) - \frac{1}{\rho^{2}(t)} (\hat{e}_{t})^{2} \right] dt + \frac{T_{t}}{\rho^{2}(t)} d\overline{w}_{t}$$

$$\hat{p}_{0} = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$
(36)

where ^ denotes conditional expectation and

$$g_t = g(t,x_t)$$
 ; $h_t = h(t,x_t)$ (37)

$$\hat{e}_t = (x_t h_t) \hat{-} \hat{x}_t \hat{h}_t$$

$$T_t = (x_t^2 h_t) \hat{} - x_t^2 \hat{h}_t - 2\hat{x}_t (x_t h_t) \hat{} + 2(\hat{x}_t)^2 \hat{h}_t$$
 (38)

and $\overline{dw}_t := dy_t - \hat{h}(t, x_t)dt$ is the innovation process which is a wiener process on y_0^t .

Since the expectation of $It\hat{o}$ integrals is zero and $E \hat{p}_t = E (x_t - \hat{x}_t)^2 = p(t)$, we get by taking the expectation on both sides of (36) that:

$$\dot{p}(t) = \sigma^2(t) + 2E((x_t g_t)^{\hat{}} - \hat{x}_t \hat{g}_t) - \frac{E(\hat{e}_t)^2}{\rho^2(t)}$$
 $p(0) = \sigma_0^2$

The smoothing property of conditional expectations [17] implies

$$E((x_t g_t)^{\hat{}} - \hat{x}_t \hat{g}_t) = E(x_t - \hat{x}_t)(g_t - g(t, \hat{x}_t))$$

$$= E \tilde{x}_t (g_t - g(t, \hat{x}_t))$$
(39)

Therefore

$$\dot{p}(t) = \sigma^{2}(t) + 2 E \tilde{x}_{t} (g_{t} - g(t, \hat{x}_{t})) - \frac{E(\hat{e}_{t})^{2}}{\rho^{2}(t)}$$

$$p(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$
(40)

Jensen's inequality [17] implies that:

$$E (\hat{e}_t)^2 \geq (E \hat{e}_t)^2$$

$$E \hat{e}_t = E((x_t h_t)^{\hat{}} - \hat{x}_t \hat{h}_t) = E \tilde{x}_t (h_t - h(t, \hat{x}_t))$$

now

$$h(t,x_t) - h(t,\hat{x}_t) = \tilde{x}_t \int_0^1 h_x [t,\hat{x}_t + s\tilde{x}_t] ds := \tilde{x}_t \psi_h$$

hence

$$E \hat{e}_t = E \tilde{x}_t^2 \psi_h$$

$$\psi_h \ge \underline{\beta}(t) \quad \text{a.s.}$$

 H_2 implies that

$$E \hat{e}_{t} \geq \underline{\beta}(t) E \tilde{x}_{t}^{2} = \underline{\beta}(t) p(t)$$

$$E (\hat{e}_{t})^{2} \geq (E\hat{e}_{t})^{2} \geq \underline{\beta}^{2}(t) p^{2}(t)$$

$$(41)$$

Similarly H_1 implies that

$$E \tilde{x}_{t} (g_{t} - g(t, \hat{x}_{t})) = E \psi_{q} \tilde{x}_{t}^{2} \leq \overline{\alpha}(t) E \tilde{x}_{t}^{2} = \overline{\alpha}(t) p(t)$$

$$(42)$$

Combining (40)-(42) and the comparison theorem (See the appendix) yields: $p\left(t\right) \, \leq \, u\left(t\right).$

* * *

Proposition 2-2-2:

Let x_t , y_t be as in (27) and assume that H_1 , H_2 hold. Let

$$dx_{t}^{k} = g(t, x_{t}^{k}) dt + k(t) [dy_{t} - h(t, x_{t}^{k}) dt]$$

$$x_{0}^{k} = 0$$
(43)

k(t) continuous, nonnegative.

Then

(i) the MSE $p^k(t) := E(x_t - x_t^k)^2$ is upper bounded by $u^k(t)$ where $\dot{u}^k(t) = \sigma^2(t) + \rho^2(t) k^2(t) + 2 \left[\overline{\alpha}(t) - k(t) \underline{\beta}(t) \right] u^k(t)$ $u^k(0) = \sigma_0^2$ (44)

(ii) the upper bound $u^{k^*}(t)$ corresponding to the particular choice $k^*(t) = \frac{g(t)}{\rho^2(t)} u^{k^*}(t)$ is the minimizer over the class of upper bounds (44). Furthermore $u^{k^*}(t) = u(t)$ where u(t) is as in (33)

* * *

Proof:

(i) Let $\tilde{x}_t = x_t - x_t^k$. Then (27) and (43) imply that

$$d\tilde{x}_t = [\tilde{g}_t - k(t)\tilde{h}_t]dt + \sigma(t)dw_t - k(t)\rho^2(t)dv_t$$
(45)

where

$$\tilde{g}_t = g(t, x_t) - g(t, x_t^k)$$

 $\tilde{h}_t = h(t, x_t) - h(t, x_t^k)$

Applying Itô's chain rule [1] gives

$$d\tilde{x}_t^2 = [\sigma^2(t) + \rho^2(t)k^2(t)] dt + 2\tilde{x}_t d\tilde{x}_t$$

taking the expectation on both sides yields:

$$\frac{d}{dt}E\tilde{x}_{t}^{2} = \dot{p}^{k}(t) = \sigma^{2}(t) + \rho^{2}(t)k^{2}(t) + 2E\bar{x}_{t}[\tilde{y}_{t} - k(t)\tilde{h}_{t}]
\dot{p}^{k}(t) = \sigma^{2}(t) + \rho^{2}(t)k^{2}(t) + 2E\tilde{x}_{t}\tilde{y}_{t} - 2k(t)E\tilde{x}_{t}\tilde{h}_{t}$$
(46)

using:

$$\tilde{g}_t = g(t, x_t) - g(t, x_t^k) = \tilde{x}_t \int_0^1 g_x(t, x_t^k + s\tilde{x}_t) ds := \tilde{x}_t \psi_g$$

we can write:

$$E \tilde{x}_t \tilde{g}_t = E \psi_q \tilde{x}_t^2$$

similarly

$$E \tilde{x}_t \tilde{h}_t = E \psi_h \tilde{x}_t^2$$

 H_1 and H_2 imply that

$$E \tilde{x}_t \tilde{g}_t \leq \overline{\alpha}(t) E \tilde{x}_t^2 = \overline{\alpha}(t) p^k(t)$$
 (47)

$$E \tilde{x}_t \tilde{h}_t \geq \underline{\beta}(t) E \tilde{x}_t^2 = \underline{\beta}(t) p^k(t)$$
 (48)

by combining (46)-(48) and the comparison theorem in the appendix we readily get the result in (i).

(ii) To show that $u^{k^*}(t) = u(t) \le u^k(t)$ for every continuous k we consider the following optimal control problem: Find k which minimizes $u^k(T)$ subject to (44). It is well known that the optimal control $k^*(t)$ solves [18]

$$\left\{\frac{\partial H}{\partial k}\right\}_{k^*} = 0$$

where the Hamiltonian H is given by

$$H = \lambda \left[\sigma^2(t) + \rho^2(t)k^2(t) + 2(\overline{\alpha}(t) - k(t)\underline{\beta}(t))u^k(t) \right]$$

with

$$\left\{\frac{\partial H}{\partial k}\right\}_{k^*} = \lambda \left[2\rho^2(t)k^*(t) - 2\underline{\beta}(t)u^k(t)\right] = 0$$

This implies that

$$k^*(t) = \frac{\underline{\beta}(t)}{\rho^2(t)} u^k(t)$$

Plugging this into (44) yields (33). Moreover

$$\frac{\partial^2 H}{\partial k^2} = 2\rho^2(t)\lambda(t)$$

where λ solves

$$\dot{\lambda}(t) = -\frac{\partial H}{\partial u^k} = -2(\overline{\alpha}(t) - k(t)\underline{\beta}(t))\lambda(t)$$
 , $\lambda(T) = 1$

and is:

$$\lambda(t) = \exp 2 \int_{t}^{T} (\overline{\alpha}(s) - k(s) \underline{\beta}(s)) ds \geq 0$$

therefore $\frac{\partial^2 H}{\partial k^2} > 0$ i.e. k^* achieves the minimum.

* * *

The consequences of this proposition are as follows:

the suboptimal filter

$$dx_t^* = g(t, x_t^*)dt + \frac{\underline{\beta}^2(t)}{\rho^2(t)} u(t)[dy_t - h(t, x_t^*)dt] ; x_0^* = 0$$
 (49)

where

$$\dot{u}(t) = \sigma^{2}(t) + 2\overline{\sigma}(t)u(t) - \frac{\underline{\beta}^{2}(t)}{\rho^{2}(t)}u^{2}(t) \quad ; \quad u(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$
 (50)

has the best upper bound (relatively to (44)), i.e., $u(t) \leq u^k(t)$ for every continuous nonnegative function k(t). Furthermore

$$p(t) := E (x_t - E(x_t | \mathcal{Y}_0))^2 \le p^*(t) := E (x_t - x_t^*)^2 \le u(t)$$
 (51)

We have also seen (remark (2) and (4) in previous section) that applying the results obtained in [10] to the 1 dimensional case yielded that the upper bound $u^*(t)$ is the smallest element of the family of upper bounds (28).

The next proposition states that u(t) is tighter than $u^*(t)$ which in turn means that the BOF (49)-(50) is better (and simpler) than the one given by (30).

For the remainder of this thesis we will use the term BOF (omitting the family with respect to which it is bound optimal) to refer to (49)-(50).

Remark: (51) is another proof of proposition 2-2-1.

Proposition 2-2-3:

 $u(t) \leq u^{*}(t)$ where u(t) and $u^{*}(t)$ satisfy (50) and (29) respectively.

* * *

Proof:

Let us recall that $u^{*}(t)$ is the smallest element of the family

$$\dot{u}^k = \sigma^2 + \rho^2 k^2 + 2(\overline{\alpha} - k \underline{\beta}) u^k + \Delta \beta (k-1)^2 u^k \quad ; \quad u^k(0) = \sigma_0^2 \qquad (28)$$
over all $k(t)$ and is achieved for $k^* = \frac{\beta u^*}{\rho^2 + u^* \Delta \beta}$. But H_2 implies that $\beta > 0$, i.e., $k^* > 0$ for every $t \ge 0$, hence $u^*(t)$ is also the minimizer of (28) over all nonnegative k 's.

Next we notice that if $g \in IC[\alpha(t), \Delta\alpha(t)]$ and $h \in IC[\beta(t), \Delta\beta(t)]$ $(\underline{\beta} \geq 0)$ then g and h satisfy H_1 and H_2 with $\overline{\alpha}(t) = \alpha(t) + \Delta\alpha(t)$ and $\underline{\beta}(t) = \beta(t) - \Delta\beta(t)$ respectively.

Now, we clearly have $u^k(t) > 0$, and by virtue of the comparison theorem: $u^k(t) \ge v^k(t)$ where

$$\dot{v}^k = \sigma^2 + \rho^2 k^2 + 2(\overline{\alpha} - k \underline{\beta}) v^k$$
 ; $v^k(0) = \sigma_0^2$

But u(t) is precisely the smallest element of this family of functions (by last proposition). Therefore u(t) is necessarily smaller than $u^*(t)$.

* * *

In the next section we combine results from the previous two sections in a single statement ready to be used in subsequent chapters.

2-3 Summary:

We consider systems modeled by one dimensional Itô SDE's of the form:

$$dx_t = g(t, x_t) dt + \sigma(t) dw_t$$

$$dy_t = h(t, x_t) dt + \rho(t) dv_t$$

$$E x_0 = 0 , E x_0^2 = \sigma_0^2$$
(51)

where q and h satisfy

$$A_1: |g_x(t,x) - \alpha(t)| < \Delta \alpha(t) \quad denoted \quad by \quad g \in \langle [\alpha(t), \Delta \alpha(t)]$$
 (52)

$$A_2 : |h_x(t,x) - \beta(t)| < \Delta \beta(t) \quad denoted \quad by \quad h \in \langle [\beta(t), \Delta \beta(t)]$$
 (53)

Note: $f \in IC [\alpha, \Delta \alpha]$ implies $f \in (\alpha, \Delta \alpha]$. Let:

$$\overline{\alpha}(t) := \alpha(t) + \Delta \alpha(t) \quad ; \quad \underline{\alpha}(t) := \alpha(t) - \Delta \alpha(t)$$
 (54)

$$\overline{\beta}(t) := \beta(t) + \Delta \beta(t) \quad ; \quad \underline{\beta}(t) = \beta(t) - \Delta \beta(t)$$
 (55)

$$p(t) := E (x_t - E(x_t | \mathcal{Y}_0^t))^2$$
 (56)

$$p^{*}(t) := E (x_{t} - x_{t}^{*})^{2}$$
 (57)

where x_t^* is the BOF and is given by

$$dx_{t}^{*} = g(t, x_{t}^{*}) dt + \frac{\underline{\beta}(t)}{\rho^{2}(t)} u(t) [dy_{t} - h(t, x_{t}^{*}) dt] ; x_{0}^{*} = 0$$
 (58)

$$\dot{u}(t) = \sigma^{2}(t) + 2\overline{\alpha}(t)u(t) - \frac{\underline{\beta}^{2}(t)}{\rho^{2}(t)}u^{2}(t) \quad ; \quad u(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2}.$$
 (59)

Then by combining the results from the previous two sections we readily get the following:

$$0 \le l(t) \le p(t) \le p^{*}(t) \le u(t) \tag{60}$$

where

$$\dot{l}(t) = \sigma^{2}(t) + 2\underline{\alpha}(t)l(t) - \frac{1}{\rho^{2}(t)} \left[\overline{\beta}^{2}(t) + 4\frac{\rho^{2}(t)}{\sigma^{2}(t)} (\Delta \alpha(t))^{2} \right] l^{2}(t)$$

$$l(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2} \tag{61}$$

and u(t) satisfies (59).

3 ASYMPTOTICALLY TIME INVARIANT SYSTEMS

In this chapter we discuss systems that are asymptotically time invariant, i.e.,

$$dx_t = g(t, x_t) dt + \sigma dw_t$$

$$dy_t = h(t, x_t) dt + \rho dv_t$$
(1)

 \mathbf{w} here

$$g(t,x) = g(x) + \lambda(t) f(t,x) h(t,x) = h(x) + \nu(t) h(t,x)$$
(2)

$$g \in \langle [a, \Delta a] ; f \in \langle [\mu(t), \Delta \mu(t)]$$

$$h \in \langle [c, \Delta c] ; k \in \langle [\varsigma(t), \Delta \varsigma(t)]$$
(3)

and

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \left[\lambda(t), \nu(t) \right] = [0,0] \tag{4}$$

In the particular case where g(x) and h(x) are linear (the limiting system is linear), one is interested in knowing whether the Kalman filter (KF) for the limiting linear system, driven by y_t in (1), is asymptotically optimal as t becomes large.

More specifically, let

$$dx_t = a x_t dt + \lambda(t) f(t,x_t) dt + \sigma dw_t$$

$$dy_t = c x_t dt + \nu(t) k(t,x_t) dt + \rho dv_t$$

$$E x_0 = 0 , E x_0^2 = \sigma_0^2 > 0$$
(5)

Then the "KF" designed for the limiting system is

$$dx_t^k = a x_t^k dt + \frac{c}{\rho^2} r(t) [dy_t - c x_t^k dt] ; x^k(0) = 0$$
 (6)

$$\dot{r}(t) = \sigma^2 + 2 a r - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} r^2 ; \quad r(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
 (7)

and the questions of interest are:

- under what conditions is x_t^k (or the BOF x_t^*) asymptotically optimal as $t \to \infty$, i.e.

$$\lim_{t\to\infty} \left(p^{k}(t) - p(t) \right) = 0 \quad \left(\lim_{t\to\infty} \left(p^{*}(t) - p(t) \right) = 0 \right) \quad ?$$

where

$$p^{k}(t) = E (x_{t} - x_{t}^{k})^{2}$$
 (8)

$$p^*(t) = E (x_t - x_t^*)^2 (9)$$

$$p(t) = E(x_t - E(x_t | y_0^t))^2$$
 (10)

- would the same result hold for the steady state KF (SSKF), obtained by setting $r(t) = r(\infty)$ in (6) ?

The bounds on the MMSE derived in the previous chapter are used to answer these questions in the linear limiting case. However, the bounds on the nonlinearities partial derivatives do not contain "enough information" to treat similar questions in the general case where g(x) and h(x) are nonlinear.

Consequently, we will only consider the class of nonlinear filtering problems (5) with the assumptions:

$$H_1 \quad : \quad f \; \in \; < \; [\; \mu(t\;) \; , \; \Delta \mu(t\;) \;] \quad \; ; \quad k \; \in \; < \; [\; \varsigma(t\;) \; , \; \Delta \varsigma(t\;) \;]$$

 H_2 : $\lambda(t)$ and $\nu(t)$ are continuous, vanishing functions on $[0,\infty[$ and nonnegative for simplicity

 H_3 : $\mu(t)$, $\Delta\mu(t)$, $\varsigma(t)$ and $\Delta\varsigma(t)$ are bounded continuous functions on $[0,\infty[$

$$H_4$$
 : $c + \nu(t) \underline{\varsigma}(t) \geq \delta_0 > 0$; c nonzero .

In the next two sections we show that:

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \left(p^{\star}(t) - p(t) \right) = 0 \text{ and } \lim_{t \to \infty} \left(p^{k}(t) - p(t) \right) = 0; \tag{11}$$

this is done by bounding p(t) as

$$0 \leq l(t) \leq p(t) \leq p^{\star}(t) \leq u(t) \tag{12}$$

$$0 \le l(t) \le p(t) \le p^{k}(t) \le q(t) \tag{13}$$

and showing that

$$\lim_{t\to\infty} \left(u(t)-l(t)\right) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{t\to\infty} \left(q(t)-l(t)\right) = 0 \tag{14}$$

The result is then generalized to the case

$$g(t,x) = a x + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i}(t) f_{i}(t,x)$$
 (15)

$$h(t,x) = c x + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \nu_i(t) k_i(t,x)$$
 (16)

which in turn can be applied to treat cases where a and c are time varying functions.

3-1 Asymptotic optimality of the BOF:

We recall that

(1) the BOF corresponding to

$$dx_t = g(t, x_t) dt + \sigma dw_t$$

$$dy_t = h(t, x) dt + \rho dv_t$$

$$E x_0 = 0 , E x_0^2 = \sigma_0^2$$
(17)

where

$$g \in \langle [\alpha(t), \Delta \alpha(t)]$$

 $h \in \langle [\beta(t), \Delta \beta(t)] ; \underline{\beta}(t) \rangle 0 ; t \geq 0$

is given by

$$dx_{t}^{*} = g(t, x_{t}^{*}) dt + \frac{\underline{\beta}(t)}{\rho^{2}} u(t) [dy_{t} - h(t, x_{t}^{*}) dt] ; x^{*}(0) = 0$$
 (18)

$$\dot{u}(t) = \sigma^2 + 2 \,\overline{\alpha}(t) \,u(t) - \frac{\underline{\beta}^2(t)}{\rho^2} \,u^2(t) \quad ; \quad u(0) = \sigma_0^2 \tag{19}$$

(2) the MSE's

$$p(t) := E(x_t - E(x_t \mid \mathcal{Y}_0^t))^2 \text{ and } p^*(t) := E(x_t - x_t^*)^2$$

satisfy

$$0 \leq l(t) \leq p(t) \leq p^*(t) \leq u(t) \tag{20}$$

where:

$$\dot{l}(t) = \sigma^2 + 2 \underline{\alpha}(t) l(t) - \frac{1}{\rho^2} \left[\overline{\beta}^2(t) + 4 \frac{\rho^2}{\sigma^2} (\Delta \alpha(t))^2 \right] l^2$$

$$l(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
(21)

In the case of (5), we note that H_1 implies:

$$g(t,x) = ax + \lambda(t)f(t,x) \in \langle [a + \lambda(t)\mu(t), \lambda(t)\Delta\mu(t)]$$
 (22)

$$h(t,x) = cx + \nu(t)k(t,x) \in \langle [c + \nu(t)\varsigma(t), \nu(t)\Delta\varsigma(t)] \rangle$$
 (23)

Thus the results (18)-(21) apply with

$$\overline{\alpha} = a + \lambda(t)\mu(t) + \lambda(t)\Delta\mu(t) = a + \lambda(t)\overline{\mu}(t)$$
 (24)

$$\underline{\alpha} = a + \lambda(t)\underline{\mu}(t) \tag{25}$$

$$\overline{\beta} = c + \nu(t) \, \overline{\varsigma}(t) \tag{26}$$

$$\underline{\beta} = c + \nu(t) \underline{\varsigma}(t) \tag{27}$$

The asymptotic optimality of the BOF is a consequence of the following lemma:

Lemma 3-1:

Let θ_1 , θ_2 , γ_1 and γ_2 be continuous functions on \mathbb{R}^+ such that

$$-\lim_{t\to\infty}\theta_i(t) = a$$

$$-\lim_{t\to\infty} \gamma_i^2(t) = c^2$$
 ; $t \ge 0$; $i = 1,2$

and consider the Riccati equations:

$$\dot{v}_1 = \sigma^2 + 2\theta_1 v_1 - \frac{\gamma_1^2}{\rho^2} v_1^2 \quad ; \quad v_1(0) = \sigma_0^2 \tag{28}$$

$$\dot{v}_2 = \sigma^2 + 2\theta_2 v_2 - \frac{\gamma_2^2}{\rho^2} v_2^2 \quad ; \quad v_2(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
 (29)

If $v_1(t) \ge v_2(t)$ and if one of the assumptions given below holds then:

$$\lim_{t\to\infty} v_1(t) = \lim_{t\to\infty} v_2(t)$$

 A_1 : a < 0

 A_2 : $v_2(t) \geq r(t)$, $t \geq 0$ and ${\gamma_1}^2 \geq \delta^2 > 0$ for some δ

Recall that:

$$\dot{r}(t) = \sigma^2 + 2ar - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} r^2 , \quad r(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
(30)

Proof:

Let $w(t) = v_1(t) - v_2(t) \ge 0$. Then a straightforward computation yields

$$\dot{w} = 2(\theta_1 - \theta_2)v_2 + \frac{1}{\rho^2} (\gamma_2^2 - \gamma_1^2)v_2^2 + 2(\theta_1 - \frac{\gamma_1^2}{\rho^2} v_2)w - \frac{\gamma_1^2}{\rho^2} w^2$$

$$w(0) = 0$$
(31)

which we rewrite as

$$\dot{w}(t) = i(t) + 2j(t)w - \frac{{\gamma_1}^2}{\rho^2}w^2 , \quad w(0) = 0$$
 (32)

where

$$i(t) = 2(\theta_1 - \theta_2)v_2 + \frac{1}{\rho^2}(\gamma_2^2 - \gamma_1^2)v_2^2$$
 (33)

$$j(t) = \theta_1 - \frac{\gamma_1^2}{\rho^2} v_2 \tag{34}$$

(32) clearly implies:

$$\dot{w} < i(t) + 2j(t)w. \tag{35}$$

Depending on the assumption used (A_1 or A_2) we will bound w(t) differently using the comparison theorem.

(1) Assumption A_1 :

Since l(t) and w(t) are nonnegative, w(t) can be bounded as

$$\dot{w} \leq i(t) + 2\theta_1 w \tag{36}$$

thus $0 \le w(t) \le z(t)$ where

$$\dot{z}(t) = i(t) + 2\theta_1 z \; ; \; z(0) = 0$$
 (37)

Similarly $v_1(t) \leq V_1(t)$ where

$$\dot{V}_1 = \sigma^2 + 2\theta_1 V_1 , V_1(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
 (38)

If a<0 then $\lim_{t\to\infty}\theta_1=a<0$ and Perron's theorem (See the appendix) can be applied to (37) and (38). We get

$$V_1(\infty) = -\frac{\sigma^2}{2a} \tag{39}$$

Since $v_2(t) \le v_1(t) \le V_1(t)$ for every $t \ge 0$, (39) implies

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} i(t) = 0$$

Re-applied to (37) Perron's theorem yields

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} z(t) = 0 \quad \text{that} \quad \text{is} \quad \lim_{t \to \infty} w(t) = 0$$

(2) Assumption A_2 :

Since $v_2(t) \ge r(t)$, $j(t) \le \theta_1 - \frac{{\gamma_1}^2}{\rho^2} r(t)$, (35) then implies that $w(t) \le z(t)$, where:

$$\dot{z} = i(t) + 2(\theta_1 - \frac{{\gamma_1}^2}{{\rho}^2} r(t)) z(t) ; z(0) = 0$$
 (40)

 $\lim_{t\to\infty} \left(\theta_1 - \frac{\gamma_1^2}{\rho^2} r(t)\right) = a - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} r(\infty); \text{ but } r(\infty) \text{ is the positive root of}$

$$\sigma^2 + 2ax - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} x^2 = 0 (41)$$

i.e.

$$r(\infty) = \frac{\rho^2}{c^2} [a + (a^2 + \frac{\sigma^2}{\rho^2}c^2)^{1/2}]$$

and
$$a - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} r(\infty) = -(a^2 + \frac{\sigma^2}{\rho^2} c^2)^{1/2}$$
 Thus $\lim_{t \to \infty} z(t) = 0$ provided

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} i(t) = 0.$$

For this to happen it suffices that $v_2(t)$ be bounded ($v_1(t)$ be bounded).

Using the assumptions and the comparison theorem we immediately get:

$$v_1(t) \leq V_1(t)$$
 where

$$\dot{V}_1 = \sigma^2 + 2\theta_M V_1 - \frac{\delta^2}{\rho^2} V_1^2 \quad ; \quad V_1(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
 (42)

and θ_M is a nonzero upper bound of $\theta_1(t)$. $V_1(t)$ is clearly bounded.

We conclude that
$$\lim_{t\to\infty} z(t) = 0$$
, i.e., $\lim_{t\to\infty} w(t) = 0$

* * *

Note:

We can conclude in particular that:

(1)
$$v_1(t) \geq v_2(t) \geq r(t)$$
; $t \geq 0$ implies $v_1(\infty) = v_2(\infty) = r(\infty)$

$$(2) \quad v_1(t) \ \geq \ r(t) \ \geq \ v_2(t) \quad \text{and} \quad a \ < 0 \quad \text{imply} \quad v_1(\infty) \ = \ v_2(\infty) \ = \ r(\infty)$$

(3)
$$r(t) \ge v_1(t) \ge v_2(t)$$
 and $a < 0$ imply the same

Proposition 3-2:

If
$$H_1 - H_4$$
 and H_5 or H_6 hold, where

$$H_5$$
: $a < 0$

$$H_6$$
: $l(t) \ge r(t)$ $t \ge 0$

then the BOF given by (18), (19) and (24)-(27) is asymptotically optimal as $t \to \infty$.

* * *

Remark: It follows directly from lemma 3-1 that if H_5 is replaced by

$$H'_{5}$$
 : $a < 0$ and either $u(t) \ge r(t)$ or $u(t) \le r(t)$

then
$$p(\infty) = p^*(\infty) = r(\infty) = \frac{\rho^2}{c^2} \left[a + (a^2 + \frac{\sigma^2}{\rho^2} c^2)^{1/2} \right]$$

Proof:

We have that: $0 \le l(t) \le p(t) \le p^*(t) \le u(t)$

where l(t) and u(t) are given by (19), (21) and (24)-(27). Lemma 3-1 can then be applied to u(t) and l(t) by taking:

$$\theta_1(t) = \overline{\alpha}(t) = a + \lambda(t)\overline{\mu}(t) \tag{43}$$

$$\theta_2(t) = \underline{\alpha}(t) = a + \lambda(t)\underline{\mu}(t) \tag{44}$$

$$\gamma_1^2(t) = \underline{\beta}^2(t) = [c + \nu(t) \underline{\varsigma}(t)]^2$$
 (45)

$$\gamma_2^2(t) = \overline{\beta}^2(t) + 4 \frac{\rho^2}{\sigma^2} (\Delta \alpha(t))^2$$

$$\gamma_2^2 = [c + \nu(t) \overline{\varsigma}(t)]^2 + 4 \frac{\rho^2}{\sigma^2} \lambda^2(t) (\Delta \mu(t))^2$$
 (46)

It is readily checked that all hypotheses in lemma 3-1 are satisfied and the result follows.

* * *

Next we generalize proposition 3-2 to the nonlinearities

$$g(t,x) = a x + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i}(t) f_{i}(t,x)$$

$$h(t,x) = c x + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \nu_{i}(t) k_{i}(t,x)$$
(47)

with the assumptions $\ H_{1}$, $H_{2}\ \ {\rm and}\ \ H_{3}\ \ \ {\rm holding}$ for each i, namely :

$$H_1: \qquad f_i \in \langle [\mu_i(t), \Delta \mu_i(t)] \qquad i = 1,...,n$$

$$k_i \in \langle [\varsigma_i(t), \Delta \varsigma_i(t)] \qquad i = 1,...,m$$

 H_2 : $\lambda_i(t)$ and $u_j(t)$ are continuous vanishing functions and nonnegative for i=1,...,n ; j=1,...,m

 $H_3:$ μ_i , $\Delta\mu_i$, ζ_j , $\Delta\zeta_j$ are bounded continuous functions for each i=1,...,n ; $j=l\,,...,m$.

Using a vector notation, e.g., $\Delta \mu = (\Delta \mu_1, \dots, \Delta \mu_n)^T$, and <, $>_n$ to denote the inner product in \mathbb{R}^n , the problem above can be reformulated in the more condensed form:

$$g(t,x) = ax + < \lambda(t), f(t,x) >_{n} h(t,x) = cx + < \nu(t), k(t,x) >_{m}$$
(48)

and we clearly have

$$g \in \langle [a + \langle \lambda, \mu \rangle_n ; \langle \lambda, \Delta \mu \rangle_n]$$

$$h \in \langle [c + \langle \nu, \varsigma \rangle_m ; \langle \nu, \Delta \varsigma \rangle_m]$$
(49)

Thus if we make the additional hypothesis

$$H_4$$
: $\underline{\beta} = c + \langle \nu, \underline{\beta} \rangle_m \geq \delta_0 > 0$

then the same results hold. More precisely the BOF is given by

$$dx_{t}^{*} = ax_{t}^{*}dt + \langle \lambda(t), f(t, x_{t}^{*}) \rangle dt + \frac{\beta(t)}{\rho^{2}}u^{2}(t)[dy_{t} - cx_{t}^{*}dt - \langle \nu(t), k(t, x_{t}^{*}) \rangle dt]$$

$$x^{*}(0) = 0$$
(50)

with the corresponding MSE $p^*(t)$ and the MMSE p(t) satisafying

$$0 \leq l(t) \leq p(t) \leq p^{\star}(t) \leq u(t) \tag{51}$$

where l(t) and u(t) are given by (19) and (21). Here:

$$\overline{\alpha}(t) = a + \langle \lambda(t), \overline{\mu}(t) \rangle$$
 (52)

$$\underline{\alpha}(t) = a + \langle \lambda(t), \underline{\mu}(t) \rangle \tag{53}$$

$$\Delta \alpha = \langle \lambda(t), \Delta \mu \rangle \tag{54}$$

$$\overline{\beta}(t) = c + \langle \nu(t), \overline{\varsigma}(t) \rangle \tag{55}$$

$$\underline{\beta}(t) = c + \langle \nu(t), \underline{\zeta}(t) \rangle \tag{56}$$

The corollary below is a direct application of lemma 3-1.

Corollary 3-3:

If $H_1 - H_4$ and H_5 or H_6 stated below are satisfied then the BOF (50) is asymptotically optimal as $t \to \infty$.

 $H_5: a < 0$

$$H_6$$
: $l(t) \ge r(t)$; $l(t)$ given by (21), (52)--(56) and $r(t)$ by
$$\dot{r} = \sigma^2 + 2ar - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} r^2 \quad ; \quad r(0) = \sigma_0^2 \tag{57}$$

The corollary above can be used to treat the more general cases where a and c are time varying, i.e.,

$$g(t,x) = a(t)x + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i}(t)f_{i}(t,x)$$

$$h(t,x) = c(t)x + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \nu_{i}(t)k_{i}(t,x)$$
(58)

where

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} a(t) = a \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{t \to \infty} c(t) = c$$

As an illustration, assume that a(t) and c(t) are continuous, $a(t) \ge a$ and $c(t) \ge c$, then rewrite (58) as:

$$g(t,x) = ax + (a(t) - a)x + <\lambda, f>_{n} h(t,x) = cx + (c(t) - c)x + <\nu, k>_{m}$$
(59)

By letting:

$$\lambda_{n+1}(t) = a(t) - a$$
 $\nu_{m+1}(t) = c(t) - c$
 $f_{n+1}(t,x) = x = k_{m+1}(t,x)$

(59) becomes:

$$g(t,x) = ax + <\lambda, f>_{n+1}$$

 $h(t,x) = cx + <\nu, k>_{m+1}$
(60)

Clearly, Corollary 3-3 can now be applied since λ_{n+1} and ν_{m+1} are continuous vanishing nonnegative functions, f_{n+1} , $k_{n+1} \in \{1, \delta\}$ where $\delta \geq 0$ is an arbitrary parameter.

3-2 Asymptotic optimality of the KF:

Given the nonlinear filtering problem:

$$dx_{t} = ax_{t} dt + \lambda(t) f(t, x_{t}) dt + \sigma dw_{t}$$

$$dy_{t} = cx_{t} dt + \nu(t) k(t, x_{t}) dt + \rho dv_{t}$$

$$Ex_{0} = 0 , Ex_{0}^{2} = \sigma_{0}^{2} , c \text{ nonzero}$$
(61)

we mean by "KF" the following algorithm

$$dx_t^k = ax_t^k dt + \frac{c}{\rho^2} r(t) [dy_t - cx_t^k dt] ; x^k(0) = 0$$
 (62)

$$\dot{r} = \sigma^2 + 2ar - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} r^2$$
 , $r(0) = \sigma_0^2$ (63)

It is clear that this corresponds to a regular Kalman filter designed for the underlying linear system obtained when one ignores the nonlinear terms in (61). It should be noted however that the "KF" (62), (63) is driven by nonlinear observations.

Nevertheless, we will continue to refer to (62), (63) as the "KF" and "SSKF" (steady state) when r(t) is replaced by $r(\infty)$.

We make the assumptions $H_0 - H_4$ where $H_1 - H_4$ are as before and

 H_0 : f(t,0) and k(t,0) are continuous, bounded on \mathbb{R}^+ .

Proposition 3-4:

If H_0-H_4 hold and if a<0 and either $l(t)\leq r(t)$ or $l(t)\geq r(t)$ for every $t\geq 0$ then both the "KF" and the "SSKF" are asymptotically optimal as $t\to\infty$. Moreover:

$$p(\infty) = p^{k}(\infty) = r(\infty) = \frac{\rho^{2}}{c^{2}} [a + (a^{2} + \frac{\sigma^{2}}{\rho^{2}} c^{2})^{1/2}]$$

Remark:

For example, a sufficient condition for $l(t) \leq r(t)$ is $\underline{\mu}(t) \leq 0$, $\overline{\varsigma}(t) \geq 0$ and c > 0.

Proof:

We first derive an upper bound on $p^{k}(t) := E(x_{t} - x_{t}^{k})^{2}$.

Following the same steps as in the proof of proposition 2-2-2 one gets:

$$\frac{dp^{k}}{dt} = \sigma^{2} + \rho^{2}G^{2} + 2 E \overline{x_{t}} \overline{g_{t}} - 2 G E \overline{x_{t}} \overline{h_{t}} , \quad p^{k}(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$
 (64)

where

$$G(t) = \frac{c}{\rho^2} r(t) \qquad (or \quad \frac{c}{\rho^2} r(\infty))$$
 (65)

$$\overline{x}_t = x_t - x_t^k \tag{66}$$

$$\overline{g}_t = a\overline{x}_t + \lambda(t)f(t,x_t)$$
 (67)

$$\overline{h_t} = c\overline{x_t} + \nu(t)k(t,x_t)$$
 (68)

$$\dot{p}^{k} = \sigma^{2} + \rho^{2} G^{2} + 2(a - cG) p^{k} + 2\lambda(t) E \ \overline{x_{t}} f(t, x_{t}) - 2\nu G E \ \overline{x_{t}} k(t, x)$$

$$(69)$$

Clearly

$$2E \ \overline{x_t} \ f(t, x_t) < E \ \overline{x_t}^2 + E \ f^2(t, x_t) = p^k(t) + E \ f^2(t, x_t)$$
 (70)

$$-2E \ \overline{x_t} \ k(t, x_t) \le p^k(t) + E \ k^2(t, x_t)$$
 (71)

By the comparison theorem : $p^{k}(t) \leq q(t)$; $q(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2}$ where

$$\dot{q}(t) = \sigma^2 + \rho^2 G^2 + 2(a - cG)q + \lambda(q + Ef^2) + \nu G(q + Ek^2)$$

$$= \sigma^2 + \rho^2 G^2 + \lambda Ef^2 + \nu GEk^2 + [2(a - cG) + \lambda + \nu G] q$$
(72)

which we rewrite:

$$\dot{q} = i(t) + j(t)q$$
 , $q(0) = \sigma_0^2$ (73)

Now, $\lim_{t\to\infty} j(t) = 2(a - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} r(\infty)) = -2(a^2 + \frac{\sigma^2}{\rho^2} c^2)^{1/2} < 0$. Thus if

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \lambda(t) E f^{2}(t, x_{t}) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \nu(t) E k^{2}(t, x_{t}) = 0$$
 (74)

then

$$\lim_{t\to\infty}i(t) = \sigma^2 + \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} r^2(\infty) .$$

Applying Perron's theorem to (73) would give:

$$q(\infty) = -\frac{i(\infty)}{j(\infty)} = -\frac{\sigma^2 + \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} r^2(\infty)}{2\left(a - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} r(\infty)\right)}$$
(75)

But $r(\infty)$ satisfies the algebraic Riccati equation:

$$\sigma^2 + 2a r(\infty) - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} r^2(\infty) = 0$$

Hence rewrite $q(\infty)$ as:

$$q(\infty) = -\frac{\sigma^2 + 2a \quad r(\infty) - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} \quad r^2(\infty) - 2(a - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} \quad r(\infty))r(\infty)}{2(a - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} \quad r(\infty))} = r(\infty)$$
 (76)

If a<0 and $(l(t) \leq r(t) \text{ or } l(t) \geq r(t))$ we conclude by the note after lemma 3-1 that $l(\infty)=r(\infty)=q(\infty)$.

We now show that (74) holds if a < 0 and H_0 hold.

$$f \in \langle [\mu(t), \Delta(t)]$$

implies

$$\underline{\mu}(t)x + f(t,0) \leq f(t,x) \leq \overline{\mu}(t)x + f(t,0) \tag{77}$$

were the time functions $\underline{\mu}(t)$, $\overline{\mu}(t)$ and f(t,0) are all bounded continuous for $t \geq 0$.

(77) implies in turn that:

$$f^{2}(t,x) \leq A^{2}(t)x^{2} + B^{2}(t) \tag{78}$$

for some continuous bounded functions A and B.

Therefore:

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \lambda(t) Ef^{2}(t, x_{t}) = 0$$
 (79)

holds if

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \lambda(t) E x_t^2 = 0 \tag{80}$$

 Ex_t^2 is given by [1]:

$$\frac{d}{dt} E x_t^2 = 1 + 2\lambda(t)E x_t f(t, x_t) + 2aE x_t^2$$
 (81)

$$2E x_t f(t, x_t) \leq E x_t^2 + E f^2(t, x_t)$$
 (82)

Using (80) and (78) in (81), we conclude by the comparison that $E x_t^2$ is bounded by V(t) where:

$$\dot{V} = 1 + \lambda(t)B^{2}(t) + (2a + \lambda(t) + \lambda(t)A^{2}(t))V(t)$$

Perron's theorem applies and:

$$V(\infty) = -\frac{1}{2a} \tag{83}$$

Therefore (79) holds.

Clearly the same thing is also true for $\nu(t) Ek^2(t,x_t)$.

* * *

We now consider:

$$g(t,x) = ax + < \lambda(t), f(t,x) >_{n} h(t,x) = cx + < \nu(t), k(t,x) >_{m}$$
(84)

where the notation and the assumptions are as in (47), (48). In addition to $H_2 - H_4$, we assume

 H_0 : $f_i(t,0)$ and $k_j(t,0)$ are bounded continuous on \mathbb{R}^+ for i=1,...,n ; j=1,...,m.

Corollary 3-5:

If $H_0 - H_4$ hold and if a < 0 and either $l(t) \le r(t)$ or $l(t) \ge r(t)$ for every $t \ge 0$ then both the "KF" and the "SSKF" are asymptotically optimal as $t \to \infty$.

Moreover

$$p(\infty) = p^{k}(\infty) = r(\infty) = \frac{c^{2}}{c^{2}} [a + (a^{2} \frac{\sigma^{2}}{\rho^{2}} c^{2})^{1/2}]$$

* * *

Remarks:

(1) We recall that, here, l(t) is given by:

$$\dot{l} = \sigma^2 + 2\underline{\alpha}(t)l - \frac{1}{\rho^2} [\overline{\beta}^2(t) + 4\frac{\rho^2}{\sigma^2} (\Delta \alpha)^2] l^2 ; l(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
 (85)

$$\underline{\alpha} = a + \langle \lambda(t), \underline{\mu}(t) \rangle_n$$
 (86)

$$\Delta \alpha = \langle \lambda(t), \Delta \mu(t) \rangle_n \tag{87}$$

$$\overline{\beta}(t) = c + \langle \nu(t), \overline{\zeta}(t) \rangle_m$$
 (88)

(2) A sufficient condition for
$$l(t) \le r(t)$$
, $t \ge 0$ is $\langle \lambda(t), \overline{\mu}(t) \rangle_n \le 0$; $\langle \nu(t), \overline{\varsigma}(t) \rangle_m \ge 0$ and $c > 0$.

These conditions hold in particular if:

$$\overline{\mu}_i(t) \leq 0$$
, $\overline{\varsigma}_i(t) \geq 0$, $c > 0$ for each i and $t \geq 0$. (89)

(3) Corollary 3-5 can be used to treat cases where:

$$g(t,x) = a(t)x + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lambda_{i}(t)f_{i}(t,x) ; \lim_{t \to \infty} a(t) = a$$

$$h(t,x) = c(t)x + \sum_{i=1}^{m} \nu_{i}(t)k_{i}(t,x) ; \lim_{t \to \infty} c(t) = c$$
(90)

as was illustrated in the previous section.

Proof:

As in proof of proposition 3-4:

$$\frac{d}{dt} p^{k}(t) = \sigma^{2} + \rho^{2}G^{2} + 2(a - cG)p^{k} + 2E \ \overline{x}_{t} < \lambda , f >_{n} - 2GE \ \overline{x}_{t} < \nu , k >_{m}$$

$$2E \ \overline{x}_{t} < \lambda , f > = 2E < \lambda , \overline{x}_{t} f > \leq 2 | |\lambda| | |E| |\overline{x}_{t}| | ||f|| \leq ||\lambda| ||E| |\overline{x}_{t}^{2} + E| ||f||^{2}$$

$$-2E \ \overline{x}_{t} < \nu , k > \leq ||\nu|| ||E| |\overline{x}_{t}^{2} + E| ||k||^{2} = ||\nu|| ||p^{k}(t) + E| ||k||^{2}$$

As before, $p^{k}(t)$ is bounded by q(t) given below:

$$\dot{q} = i(t) + j(t) q$$

where:

$$i(t) = \sigma^2 + \rho^2 G^2 + ||\lambda(t)||E|||f(t,x_t)||^2 + G||\nu(t)||E|||k(t,x_t)||^2$$

$$j(t) = 2(a - cG) + ||\lambda(t)|| + G||\nu(t)||$$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} j(t) = 2(a - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} r(\infty)) = -2(a^2 + \frac{\sigma^2}{\rho^2} c^2)^{1/2} < 0$$
and
$$\lim_{t \to \infty} i(t) = 0$$
provided

 $\lim_{t \to \infty} | |\lambda(t)| |E| |f| |^2 = \lim_{t \to \infty} | |\nu(t)| |E| |k| |^2 = 0.$

We need to show that : $\lim_{t\to\infty} |\ |\lambda(t)|\ |E|\ |f(t,x_t)|\ |^2 = 0$

As in last proof, we have that:

$$f_{i}^{2}(t,x_{t}) \leq A_{i}^{2}(t)x_{t}^{2} + B_{i}^{2}(t)$$

where A_i and B_i are bounded continuous.

Thus, it suffices to show that : $\lim_{t \to \infty} Ex_t^2 < \infty$

$$\frac{d}{dt} E x_t^2 = 1 + 2E x_t < \lambda , f > + 2aE x_t^2$$

$$\frac{d}{dt} E x_t^2 \le 1 + ||\lambda|| |E x_t^2 + E||f||^2] + 2aE x_t^2$$

But

$$E \mid |f| \mid |^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} Ef_{i}^{2} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} A_{i}^{2}(t) Ex_{t}^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} B_{i}^{2}(t)$$

 $Ex_t^2 < V(t)$ where: Therefore:

$$\dot{V} = 1 + | |\lambda| | \sum_{1}^{n} B_{i}^{2}(t) + [2a + | |\lambda| | + | |\lambda| | \sum_{1}^{n} A_{i}^{2}(t)] V$$

$$\dot{V} := I(t) + J(t) V$$

Clearly:
$$\lim_{t \to \infty} I(t) = 1$$
 and $\lim_{t \to \infty} J(t) = 2a < 0$

Therefore
$$\lim_{t \to \infty} V(t) = -\frac{1}{2a} < \infty$$
 and the proof is complete.

* * *

4 STATIONARY BEHAVIOR OF THE BENES FILTER

4-1 Problem statement:

V.E. Benes established the following [4]:

Given the one dimensional filtering problem

$$dx_t = f(x_t)dt + dw_t , \quad x(0) = x$$

$$dy_t = x_t dt + dv_t$$
(1)

where f satisfies the Riccati equation:

$$f_x(x) + f^2(x) = a x^2 + b x + c ; a \ge 0$$
 (2)

then

$$u(t,z) = \exp \left\{ \int_0^z f(x) dx - \frac{1}{2} \frac{(z-\mu_t)^2}{\sigma(t)} \right\}$$

determines an unnormalized conditional density in terms of the two statistics $\sigma(t)$ and μ_t given by

$$\dot{\sigma}(t) = 1 - k^2 \sigma^2(t)$$
 ; $\sigma(0) = 0$ $(k = (1+a)^{1/2})$

$$d \mu_t = -k^2 \sigma^2(t) \mu_t dt - \frac{1}{2} b \sigma(t) dt + \sigma(t) dy_t$$

$$\mu_0 = x$$
(4)

As already mentioned, this is one of the few known (see [5]) finite dimensional, recursive non-linear filters.

In certain applications one is interested in the long time behavior of easily implementable filtering algorithms, e.g., algorithms in which the sufficient statistics satisfy differential equations with constant coefficients.

In the context of this particular filter we first note that the diffusion process satisfying
(1) and (2) has a stationary probability distribution only if f is affine [19] (see also next

remark).

Since $\lim_{t\to\infty} \sigma(t) = \frac{1}{k} := \overline{\sigma}$, we define

$$\overline{u}(t,z) = \exp\left\{\int_0^z f(x)dx - \frac{1}{2} \frac{(z-\overline{\mu}_t)^2}{\overline{\sigma}}\right\}$$
 (5)

where now

$$d \overline{\mu}_t = -k^2 \overline{\sigma} \overline{\mu}_t dt - \frac{1}{2} b \overline{\sigma} dt + \overline{\sigma} dy_t$$

$$\overline{\mu}_0 = x$$
(6)

as a "natural limiting function" of u(t,z).

The question of interest is then to know how $\;\overline{u}\left(t\,,z\,
ight)\;$ relates to $\;u\left(t\,,z\,
ight)\;$ as $\;t\,\to\infty$.

We shall show that μ_t and $\overline{\mu}_t$ are asymptotically indistinguishable in the quadratic mean sense, i.e.

$$\lim_{t\to\infty} E \left(\mu_t - \overline{\mu}_t \right)^2 = 0$$

4-2 A partial result:

We start by recalling that μ_t has the alternative form [4]:

$$\mu_t = \sigma(t)y_t + \frac{m_1 - r_{12} + r_{13}}{1 - kr_{11}}$$
 (7)

where

$$\sigma(t) = \frac{r_{11}(t)}{1 - kr_{11}(t)} \tag{8}$$

$$\dot{r}_{11} = 1 - 2kr_{11} \quad ; \quad r_{11}(0) = 0$$
 (9)

$$\dot{r}_{12} = -kr_{12} + y_t \quad ; \quad r_{12}(0) = 0$$
 (10)

$$\dot{r}_{13} = -kr_{13} + r_{11}(ky_t - \frac{1}{2}b)$$
 ; $r_{13}(0) = 0$ (11)

$$\dot{m}_1 = -km_1 \quad ; \quad m_1(0) = x \tag{12}$$

A similar form for $\overline{\mu}_t$ is readily obtainable.

Proposition 4-2-1:

An alternative expression for $\overline{\mu}_t$ is

$$\overline{\mu}_t = \overline{\sigma} y_t + \frac{m_1 - r_{12} + \overline{r}_{13}}{1 - k \overline{r}_{11}} \tag{13}$$

where

$$\overline{r}_{11} = \frac{1}{2k} = \frac{\overline{\sigma}}{2} \tag{14}$$

$$\dot{\overline{r}}_{13} = -k\overline{r}_{13} + r_{11} \left(ky_t - \frac{1}{2} b \right) \quad ; \quad \overline{r}_{13}(0) = 0$$
 (15)

* * *

Proof:

Differentiate (13)

$$d \,\overline{\mu}_t = \overline{\sigma} dy_t + \frac{1}{1 - k\overline{r}_{11}} \left(\dot{m}_1 - \dot{r}_{12} + \dot{\overline{r}}_{13} \right) dt$$

$$\dot{m}_1 + \dot{r}_{12} + \dot{\overline{r}}_{13} = -km_1 - y_t + \frac{1}{2} b\overline{r}_{11}$$

$$= -k \left(m_1 - r_{12} + \overline{r}_{13} \right) - y_t + k\overline{r}_{11} y_t - \frac{1}{2} b\overline{r}_{11}.$$

Thus:

$$d \,\overline{\mu}_t = \overline{\sigma} dy_t + \frac{1}{1 - k\overline{r}_{11}} \left[-k \left(m_1 - r_{12} + \overline{r}_{13} \right) - \left(1 - k\overline{r}_{11} \right) y_t - \frac{1}{2} b \overline{r}_{11} \right] dt$$

$$d \,\overline{\mu}_t = \overline{\sigma} dy_t - k \, \frac{m_1 - r_{12} + \overline{r}_{13}}{1 - k\overline{r}_{11}} dt$$

$$= \overline{\sigma} dy_t - k \, (\overline{\mu}_t - \overline{\sigma} y_t) dt - y_t dt - \frac{1}{2} b \, \overline{\sigma} dt$$

$$= -k \, \overline{\mu}_t dt - \frac{1}{2} b \, \overline{\sigma} dt + \overline{\sigma} dy_t - (1 - k \, \overline{\sigma}) y_t dt$$

but $\overline{\sigma} := \frac{1}{k}$ hence $(1 - k \overline{\sigma}) = 0$ and $k = k^2 \overline{\sigma}$.

* * *

The following estimates are also needed.

Lemma 4-2-2:

$$E \ y_t^2$$
 and $E \ [\int_0^t |y_s| \ ds \]^2$ are at most $O(\ t \ e^{2\sqrt{a} \ t} \)$ and $O(\ t^2 \ e^{2\sqrt{a} \ t} \)$ as $t \to \infty$, respectively.

Proof:

$$E y_t^2 = E \left[\int_0^t x_s \, ds + v_t \right]^2$$

$$= E \left[\int_0^t x_s \, ds \right]^2 + E v_t \int_0^t x_s \, ds + E v_t^2$$

$$= t + E \left[\int_0^t x_s \, ds \right]^2$$

since $\{v_t\}$ is independent of $\{w_t\}$, x_0 and $E v_t^2 = t$.

$$E \ [\int_0^t x_s \ ds \]^2 \ = \ \int_0^t \int_0^t E \ x_s \, x_\tau \ ds d \, \tau \ \le \ t \ \int_0^t E \ x_s^2 ds$$

Thus

$$E y_t^2 \le t (1 + \int_0^t E x_s^2 ds)$$
 (16)

Let's now solve explicitly for Ex_t^2 .

It is well known that if ϕ is twice differentiable then [1]:

$$\frac{d}{dt} E \phi(x_t) = E [\phi_x(x_t) f(x_t) + \frac{1}{2} \phi_{xx}(x_t)]$$
 (17)

hence:

$$\frac{d}{dt} E x_t^2 = 1 + 2 E x_t f(x_t)$$
 (18)

Furthermore, note that (2) implies that f_x and f_{xx} exist and are continuous, so that (17) can be used again for $\phi(x) = xf(x)$.

$$\frac{d}{dt} E x_t f(x_t) = E [f_x(x_t) + f^2(x_t) + \frac{1}{2} x_t (f_{xx}(x_t) + 2f(x_t) f_x(x_t))]$$

by differentiating (2) we get:

$$f_{xx} + 2f f_x = 2ax + b$$

$$\frac{d}{dt} E x_t f(x_t) = 2a E x_t^2 + \frac{3}{2} b E x_t + c$$
(19)

Similarly:

$$\frac{d}{dt} E x_t = E f(x_t)$$

and

$$\frac{d}{dt} E f(x_t) = \frac{1}{2} E [f_{xx}(x_t) + 2f_x(x_t) f(x_t)]$$

$$= a E x_t + \frac{b}{2}$$
(20)

Therefore

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2} E x_t = a E x_t + \frac{b}{2}$$

which clearly implies that $E x_t = O(e^{\sqrt{a} t})$ as $t \to \infty$.

By differentiating (18) and using (19) we get

$$\frac{d^2}{dt^2} E x_t^2 = 4a E x_t^2 + 3b E x_t + 2c$$
 (21)

clearly $E x_t^2 = O(e^{2\sqrt{a} t})$ as $t \to \infty$, which in turn implies by virtue of (16) that $E y_t^2$ is at most $O(te^{2\sqrt{a} t})$ as $t \to \infty$.

Now

$$E \ [\int_0^t \ |\ y_s\ |\ ds\]^2 \ \le \ t \ \int_0^t E y_s^2 ds$$

and the remaining assertion follows.

* * *

Remark:

It is well known that if f is linear (hence a>0), the stationary probability density exists and is Gaussian. In the particular case where a=0, it is clear that for a stationary probability density to exist, it is necessary that the left hand sides of (20) and (21) be zero, i.e. b=c=0; this leaves the explosive nonlinearity $f(x)=\frac{1}{x}$ which is not allowed (notice that f(x)=th(x) satisfies (2) with a=b=0 and c=1).

We now state the main result

Proposition 4-2-3:

Let μ_t and $\overline{\mu}_t$ be given by (4) and (6) respectively, then

$$\lim_{t\to\infty} E \left(\mu_t - \overline{\mu}_t \right)^2 = 0$$

* * *

Proof:

Using the alternative expressions (7) and (13) for μ_t and $\overline{\mu}_t$ we compute:

$$\mu_t - \overline{\mu}_t = (\sigma(t) - \overline{\sigma})y_t + \frac{m_1 - r_{12} + r_{13}}{1 - kr_{11}} - \frac{m_1 - r_{12} + \overline{r}_{13}}{1 - k\overline{r}_{11}}$$

which can be rewritten as

$$\mu_t - \overline{\mu}_t = (\sigma(t) - \overline{\sigma}) y_t + \frac{m_1 + r}{1 - kr_{11}} - \frac{m_1 + \overline{r}}{1 - k\overline{r}_{11}}$$
(22)

where $r=r_{13}$ - r_{12} and $r=\overline{r}_{13}$ - r_{12} satisfy

$$\dot{r} = -kr - \frac{1}{2} br_{11} - (1 - kr_{11})y_t \quad ; \quad r(0) = 0$$
 (23)

$$\dot{\overline{r}} = -k\overline{r} - \frac{1}{2}b\overline{r}_{11} - (1 - k\overline{r}_{11})y_t \quad ; \quad \overline{r}(0) = 0$$
 (24)

$$\mu_t - \mu_t = (\sigma(t) - \overline{\sigma})y_t + h(t) + R(t)$$
(25)

where

$$h(t) = \frac{km_1(r_{11} - \overline{r}_{11})}{(1 - kr_{11})(1 - k\overline{r}_{11})}$$
 (26)

$$R(t) = \frac{r}{1 - kr_{11}} - \frac{\overline{r}}{1 - k\overline{r}_{11}}$$
 (27)

Now

$$\sigma(t) - \overline{\sigma} = \frac{1}{k} \left(th \left(kt \right) - 1 \right)$$
$$= -\frac{2}{k} \frac{e^{-2kt}}{1 + e^{-2kt}}$$

(9), (12) and (14) imply

$$m_1 = e^{-kt} x$$
 $h(t) = -\frac{2e^{-3kt}}{1+e^{-2kt}} x$

A straightforward computation involving the integration of (17) and (18) yields

$$R(t) = \frac{b}{2k^2}e^{-kt} th(kt) + \frac{e^{-3kt}}{1 + e^{-2kt}} \int_0^t e^{-ks} y_s ds - \frac{e^{-kt}}{1 + e^{-2kt}} \int_0^t e^{-ks} y_s ds$$

hence

$$|Rrt| \le 2e^{-kt} \left[\frac{|b|}{4k} + \int_0^t |y_s| ds \right]$$
 a.s $|\mu_t - \overline{\mu}_t| \le \frac{2}{k} e^{-2kt} |y_t| + |h(t)| + |R(t)|$ a.s

i.e.

$$|\mu_t - \overline{\mu}_t| \le \frac{2}{k} e^{-2kt} |y_t| + 2e^{-3kt} |x| + 2e^{-kt} [\frac{|b|}{rk} + \int_0^t |y_s| ds]$$

After squaring both sides of (28) and taking expectations, we find that $E(\mu_t - \overline{\mu}_t)^2$ is bounded by a quantity which leading terms (up to positive constants) are the following:

$$\begin{array}{lll} T_1 & = & e^{-2kt} & E \int_0^t \mid y_s \mid ds \\ \\ T_2 & = & e^{-2kt} & E \mid \int_0^t \mid y_s \mid ds \mid^2 \\ \\ T_3 & = & e^{-5kt} & E \mid xy_t \mid & \leq & + \frac{1}{2} e^{-5kt} & Ex^2 + \frac{1}{2} e^{-5kt} & Ey_t^2 \end{array}$$

$$T_{4} = e^{-3kt} E \mid y_{t} \mid$$

$$T_{5} = e^{-3kt} E \mid y_{t} \mid \int_{0}^{t} \mid y_{s} \mid ds \leq \frac{1}{2} e^{-3kt} E y_{t}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} e^{-3kt} E \left[\int_{0}^{t} \mid y_{s} \mid ds\right]^{2}$$

$$T_{6} = e^{-4kt} E \mid x \mid \int_{0}^{t} \mid y_{s} \mid ds \leq \frac{1}{2} e^{-4kt} E x^{2} + \frac{1}{2} e^{-4kt} E \left[\int_{0}^{t} \mid y_{s} \mid ds\right]^{2}$$

So clearly all these terms are less than e^{-2kt} $O(t^2e^{2\sqrt{a}-t})$ as $t\to\infty$ by last proposition. Thus they all go to zero as $t\to\infty$ since $2k:=2(1+a)^{1/2}$ is always bigger than $2\sqrt{a}$.

* * *

5 PERTURBED SYSTEMS

In this chapter we consider systems that contain a small parameter $\epsilon > 0$, namely weakly nonlinear systems and systems with low measurement noise level. Systems of the first type are modeled as:

$$dx_t = a(t)x_t dt + \epsilon f(t,x_t)dt + \sigma(t)dw_t$$

$$dy_t = c(t)x_t dt + \rho(t)dv_t$$
(1)

while those of the second type are:

$$dx_t = g(t, x_t)dt + \sigma(t)dw_t$$

$$dy_t = h(t, x_t)dt + \epsilon dv_t$$
(2)

It is well known that for filtering problems of this type there may be no finite set of equations which propagate the conditional mean.

We are interested in (one dimensional) suboptimal filters which are asymptotically optimal in the sense that the corresponding a priori mean square error (MSE) is identical, up to some power of ϵ , to the optimal one.

Weakly nonlinear systems have been studied in Brockett [12] where it was shown that in the general case, even to be optimal in the asymptotic sense, such filters must evolve in higher dimensional spaces than the state space. In section 5-1, it is shown that for a particular class of non linearities f (those with bounded derivatives), the "KF" and the BOF, which are both one dimensional filters with precomputable (non random) gains, are asymptotically optimal as $\epsilon \to 0$.

Next, the low measurement noise case, first studied in [7], [13], [14], [15] is treated in section 5-2 where the BOF and a constant gain version of it are shown to be asymptotically optimal; in addition, an even simpler asymptotically optimal filter is obtained. These same results have been obtained in [7], [15] by a different approach (e.g. an elaborate WKB procedure applied directly to the DMZ equation in [7]), while here, basic bounds on the a priori

MMSE and perturbation methods are used.

5-1 Weakly non linear systems:

Let x_t and y_t be given by

$$dx_t = g(t,x_t)dt + \epsilon f(t,x_t) + \sigma(t)dw_t$$

$$dy_t = h(t,x_t)dt + \rho(t)dv_t$$
(3)

where $\epsilon > 0$ is a small parameter and

$$- g \in \langle [a(t), \Delta a(t)] ; f \in \langle [\mu(t), \Delta \mu(t)] \rangle$$

$$- h \in \langle [c(t), \Delta c(t)] \quad \text{with} \quad \underline{c}(t) > 0 \quad ; \quad t \geq 0$$

Upper and lower bounds on $p(t) := E(x_t - E(x_t | y_0^t))^2$, $p^*(t) := E(x_t - x_t^*)^2$ and $p^k(t) := E(x_t - x_t^k)^2 (x_t^*, x_t^k)$ being the BOF and KF estimators respectively) are used to establish that in the weakly nonlinear case, that is in the case g and h are linear, both filters are asymptotically optimal in the sense that p, p^* and p^k are the same up to first order in ϵ .

5-1-1 Asymptotic optimality of the BOF:

We recall that here the BOF x_t^* is given by:

$$dx_{t}^{*} = g(t, x_{t}^{*})dt + \epsilon f(t, x_{t}^{*})dt + \frac{c(t)}{\rho^{2}(t)} u(t)[dy_{t} - h(t, x_{t}^{*})dt]$$

$$x^{*}(0) = 0$$

$$\dot{u} = \sigma^{2}(t) + 2(\overline{a}(t) + \epsilon \overline{\mu}(t)) u(t) - \frac{c^{2}(t)}{\rho^{2}(t)} u^{2} ; u(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$

$$(4)$$

Proposition 5-1:

If $g(t,x_t)=a(t)x(t)$ and $h(t,x_t)=c(t)x(t)$; c(t)>0, then, the BOF is asymptotically optimal as $\epsilon\to 0$, i.e.

$$p^{*}(t) = p(t) = r(t) + O(\epsilon)$$
(5)

where

$$\dot{r} = \sigma^2(t) + 2a(t)r(t) - \frac{c^2(t)}{\rho^2(t)}r^2$$
 ; $r(0) = r_0^2$ (6)

* * *

Remark:

If furthermore, the system is time invariant then

$$p^{*}(t) = p(t) = r(t) + 2 \epsilon \mu \int_{0}^{t} \phi(t,s) r(s) ds + O(\epsilon, \Delta \alpha)$$
 (7)

where

$$r(t) = \frac{\rho^2}{c^2} \left\{ a + \delta \frac{1 - Ae^{-2\delta t}}{1 + Ae^{-2\delta t}} \right\}$$
 (8)

$$\delta = \sqrt{a^2 + \frac{\sigma^2}{\rho^2} c^2} \quad ; \quad A = \frac{\frac{c^2}{\rho^2} (a + \delta) - \sigma_0^2}{\sigma_0^2 - \frac{c^2}{\rho^2} (a - \delta)}$$
(9)

$$\phi(t,s) = e^{2a(t-s)} \exp\left\{-2\frac{c^2}{\rho^2} \int_s^t r(\tau) d\tau\right\}$$
(10)

here $O\left(x,y\right)$ means order of each one of the arguments separately.

Proof:

From the summary in 2-3 we have

$$0 \leq l(t) \leq p(t) \leq p^*(t) \leq u(t) \tag{11}$$

where:

$$\dot{u} = \sigma^2(t) + 2(\overline{a}(t) + \epsilon \overline{\mu}(t))u - \frac{\underline{c}^2(t)}{\rho^2(t)}u^2$$

$$u(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
(12)

$$\dot{l} = \sigma^{2}(t) + 2(\underline{a}(t) + \epsilon \underline{\mu}(t))l - \frac{1}{\rho^{2}(t)} \left[\overline{c}^{2}(t) + 4\frac{\rho^{2}(t)}{\sigma^{2}(t)} (\Delta a(t) + \epsilon \Delta \mu(t))^{2} \right] l^{2}$$

$$l(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2} \tag{13}$$

expanding u(t) in the form:

$$u(t) \sim \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} u_i(t) \epsilon^i \tag{14}$$

gives:

$$u^{2}(t) \sim \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c_{k} \epsilon^{k}$$

$$c_{k} = \sum_{j=0}^{n} u_{j}(t) u_{n-j}(t)$$

$$(15)$$

Plugging (14) and (15) in (12) and equating powers of ϵ yields:

$$\dot{u}_0 = \sigma^2(t) + 2\bar{a}(t)u_0 - \frac{c^2(t)}{\rho^2(t)}u_0^2 , \qquad u_0(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
 (16)

$$\dot{u}_1 = 2[\ \overline{a}(t) - \frac{c^2(t)}{\rho^2(t)} \ u_0(t) \]u_1 + 2\overline{\mu}(t)u_0(t) \quad , \quad u_1(0) = 0 \quad (17)$$

Proceeding similarly for l(t), one obtains:

$$\dot{l}_{0} = \sigma^{2}(t) + 2\underline{a}(t)l_{0} - \frac{1}{\rho^{2}} \left[\overline{c}^{2}(t) + 4\frac{\rho^{2}(t)}{\sigma^{2}(t)} \Delta a^{2}(t) \right] l_{0}^{2}
l_{0}(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$
(18)

$$\dot{l}_{1} = 2[\underline{a}(t) - \frac{1}{\rho^{2}(t)} (\overline{c}^{2}(t) + 4\frac{\rho^{2}(t)}{\sigma^{2}(t)} \Delta a^{2}(t)) l_{0}] l_{1} + 2\underline{\mu}(t) l_{0} - 8\frac{\Delta a \Delta \mu}{\sigma^{2}} l_{0}^{2}$$

$$l_{1}(0) = 0$$
(19)

(here $\Delta a^2 := (\Delta a)^2$)

It is clear from (16) and (18) that $u_0(t)$ and $l_0(t)$ are different in the general case but coincide with r(t) if $\Delta a = \Delta c = 0$ that is:

$$g(t,x) = a(t)x$$
 and $h(t,x) = c(t)x$

* * *

Now if the system is time invariant i.e.:

a(t)=a ; $\mu(t)=\mu$; c(t)=c ; $\sigma(t)=\sigma$ and $\rho(t)=\rho$ then one easily gets the results in the remark above by using the change of variable $r=\frac{\rho^2}{c^2}\frac{\dot{w}}{w}$ to solve (6) and the variation of constants formula in (17) and (19).

5-1-2 Asymptotic optimality of the KF:

The question considered here is whether one could, in the case of weakly nonlinear systems, ignore the nonlinear part in the drift, use the Kalman filter designed for the underlying linear system (driven by y_t) and be able to achieve asymptotic optimality as $\epsilon \to 0$. As already mentioned, this filtering scheme is what is referred to as the "KF" (See Chapter 3).

Proposition 5-2:

If g(t,x) = a(t)x, h(t,x) = c(t)x, c(t) > 0; then the KF given by:

$$dx_t^k = a(t)x_t^k dt + \frac{c(t)}{\rho^2(t)} r(t) [dy_t - c(t)x_t^k dt] ; x^k(0) = 0$$

where r(t) is as in (6), is asymptotically optimal as $\epsilon \to 0$ in the sense that

$$p(t) = p^{k}(t) = r(t) + O(\epsilon) \qquad 0 \le t \le T$$

* * *

Proof:

Following the steps in Proposition 3-4 one gets:

$$l(t) \leq p(t) \leq p^{k}(t) \leq q^{\epsilon}(t)$$

where:

$$\dot{l} = \sigma^2(t) + 2(a(t) + \epsilon \underline{\mu}(t))l - \frac{1}{\rho^2(t)} [c^2(t) + 4\frac{\rho^2(t)}{\sigma^2(t)} \Delta \mu^2(t)\epsilon^2]l^2$$

 $l(0) = \sigma_0^2$

and

$$\dot{q}^{\epsilon}(t) = i(t) + j(t)q^{\epsilon} \; ; \quad q^{\epsilon}(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
 $i(t) = \sigma^2(t) + \frac{c^2(t)}{\rho^2(t)} r^2(t) + \epsilon E f^2(t, x_t)$
 $j(t) = 2(a(t) - \frac{c(t)}{\rho^2(t)} r(t)) + \epsilon$

Expanding $q^{\epsilon}(t)$ in the form:

$$q^{\epsilon}(t) \sim \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} q_i^{\epsilon}(t) \epsilon^i$$

and equating powers of ϵ yields:

$$\dot{q}_{0}^{\ \epsilon} = \sigma^{2}(t) + rac{c^{2}(t)}{
ho^{2}(t)} r^{2}(t) + 2[a(t) - rac{c^{2}(t)}{
ho^{2}(t)} r(t)]q_{0}^{\ \epsilon} ; q_{0}^{\ \epsilon}(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$

Let $w:=q_0^{\epsilon}(t)-l_0(t)$. Then by the previous section: $w(t)=q_0^{\epsilon}(t)-r(t)$

$$\dot{w}(t) = \frac{c^2(t)}{
ho^2(t)} r^2(t) + 2[a(t) - \frac{c^2(t)}{
ho^2(t)} r(t)]q_0^{\epsilon} - 2a(t)r(t) + \frac{c^2(t)}{
ho^2(t)} r^2(t)$$

This easily becomes:

$$\dot{w} = 2 [a(t) - \frac{c^2(t)}{\rho^2(t)} r(t)] w ; \quad w(0) = 0$$

The solution clearly is w(t) = 0 which implies $q_0^{\epsilon} = r$.

* * *

5-2 Low measurement noise level:

Consider the system:

$$dx_t = g(t, x_t)dt + \sigma(t)dw_t$$

$$dy_t = h(t, x_t)dt + \epsilon dv_t$$
(20)

$$g \in \langle [a(t), \Delta a(t)] \rangle$$

 $h \in \langle [c(t), \Delta c(t)] \rangle ; \underline{c}(t) \geq 0 ; t \geq 0$

and $\epsilon > 0$ is a small parameter (this is the case in many practical situations [13], [15]).

The optimal a priori MSE is bounded from above and below; perturbation methods for the bounds are used to show for three suboptimal filters that the upper bound approaches the lower one as ϵ becomes smaller.

The result is quoted for h linear but holds for nonlinearities h which tend asymptotically to be linear, i.e. Δc is small (see remark 2). This type of (almost linear) nonlinearities arise in practice and are usually modeled as being linear [10].

Proposition 5-3:

If in (20)
$$h(t,x) = c(t)x$$
 and $c(t) > 0$ then
$$p(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon) = E(x_t - x_t^F)^2$$
 (21)

where $\lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{O(\epsilon)}{\epsilon} = 0$ and x_t^F denotes anyone of the three asymptotically optimal filters listed below.

(1) The BOF:

$$dx_{t}^{*} = g(t, x_{t}^{*})dt + \frac{c(t)}{\epsilon^{2}} u(t) [dy_{t} - c(t)x_{t}^{*}dt] , \quad x^{*}(0) = 0$$
 (22)

$$\dot{u}(t) = \sigma^2(t) + 2 \, \overline{a}(t) \, u(t) - \frac{c^2(t)}{\epsilon^2} \, u^2(t) \quad ; \quad u(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
 (23)

(2) The constant gain BOF:

$$dx_t^c = g(t, x_t^c)dt + \frac{\sigma(t)}{\epsilon} [dy_t - cx_t^c dt] ; x_t^c(0) = 0$$
 (24)

(3) The linear (first approximation) BOF:

$$dx_t^L = \frac{\sigma(t)}{\epsilon} \left[dy_t - c(t) x_t^L dt \right] \quad ; \quad x^L(0) = 0$$
 (25)

* * *

Proof:

(21) is proven for each case separately.

Case 1:

From section 2-3 we get:

$$l(t) \leq p(t) \leq p^{*}(t) = E(x_{t} - x_{t}^{*})^{2} \leq u(t)$$
 (26)

where:

$$\dot{u} = \sigma^2(t) + 2\overline{a}(t)u - \frac{c^2(t)}{\epsilon^2}u^2 ; u(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
 (27)

$$\dot{l} = \sigma^2(t) + 2\underline{a}(t)l - \frac{1}{\epsilon^2} \left[\overline{c}^2(t) + 4\frac{\epsilon^2}{\sigma^2(t)} (\Delta a)^2\right] l^2$$

$$l(0) = \sigma_0^2 \tag{28}$$

It can be easily seen by inspection of (27) and (28) that u(t) and l(t) are of different order in ϵ if Δc is nonzero. Let's show this explicitly.

Expanding u(t) as

$$u(t) \sim \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} u_n(t) \epsilon^n$$
 (29)

gives:

$$u^{2}(t) \sim \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} d_{n} \epsilon^{n}$$

$$d_{n}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} u_{j}(t)u_{n-j}(t)$$
(30)

e.g.

$$d_0(t) = u_0^2(t)$$

$$d_1(t) = 2u_0(t)u_1(t)$$

$$d_2(t) = 2u_0u_2 + u_1^2$$

Plugging (29) and (30) in (27) gives:

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \dot{u}_n \, \epsilon^n = \sigma^2(t) + 2\overline{a} \, \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} u_n \, \epsilon^n - \frac{\overline{c}^2}{\epsilon^2} \, \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \, d_n \, \epsilon^n$$
 (31)

Equating powers of ϵ , starting with ϵ^{-2} , yields:

$$d_0 = 0$$
 i.e. $u_0(t) = 0$.

This in turn implies that $d_1 = 0$.

Similarly $\sigma^2 - \underline{c}^2 d_2 = 0$. But $d_2 = u_1^2$ hence

$$u_1(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)} \tag{32}$$

i.e.

$$u(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{\underline{c}(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon^2) \quad \text{for each} \quad t > 0$$
 (33)

By a similar procedure we get $l_0 = 0$ and $l_1 = \frac{\sigma(t)}{\overline{c}(t)}$ that is

$$l(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{\overline{c}(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon^2) \qquad t > 0$$
 (34)

Note: These approximations are obviously not valid in the immediate vicinity of t=0 where $u(0)=l(0)=\sigma_0^2$. This (boundary layer) problem is neglected here.

We conclude from (33) and (34) that if $\Delta c = 0$, i.e., h(t,x) = c(t)x then:

$$u(t) = l(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon^2) \qquad t > 0$$
 (35)

which establishes the asymptotic optimality of the BOF as $\epsilon \to 0$.

This suggests the following:

- (i) since $u(t) = \epsilon u_1(t) + O(\epsilon^2)$, one can replace u(t) in (22) by $\epsilon u_1 = \epsilon \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)}$ and hope to achieve asymptotic optimality as well. The new filter clearly would have the advantage that the gain $k(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{\epsilon}$, thus avoiding solving a Riccati equation and therefore resulting in faster computations.
- (ii) If the answer to (i) is affirmative, the next question is whether the same thing would hold for the first approximation (when expanding x_t^c) filter:

$$dx_t^L = \frac{\sigma(t)}{\epsilon} [dy_t - c(t) x_t^L dt]$$

It turns out that both filters are asymptotically optimal as is shown in case 2 and 3.

Case 2:

An upper bound on filters of the type 2 has already been given in (44) Proposition 2-2. In this case

$$E \left(x_t - x_t^c \right)^2 \leq u^k(t) \tag{36}$$

where $(k(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{\epsilon})$:

$$\dot{u}^{k} = 2\sigma^{2}(t) + 2\left[\overline{a}(t) - \frac{\sigma(t)c(t)}{\epsilon}\right]u^{k}$$

$$u^{k}(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$
(37)

By setting $u^{k}(t,\epsilon) \sim \sum u_{i}^{k}(t)\epsilon^{i}$ in (37), one easily obtains

$$u_0^k(t) = 0$$
 ; $u_1^k(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)}$

hence:

$$p\left(t
ight) = E\left(x_t - x_t^c
ight)^2 = rac{\sigma(t)}{c\left(t
ight)} \epsilon + O\left(\epsilon^2
ight) \,, \qquad t > 0$$
(Recall that: $p\left(t
ight) \geq l\left(t
ight) = rac{\sigma(t)}{c\left(t
ight)} \epsilon + O\left(\epsilon^2
ight) \,.$

Case 3:

An upper bound on $p^L(t):=E(x_t-x_t^L)^2$ is obtained by following the first steps in the proof of proposition 2-2. Instead of (46) we get by making $k(t)=\frac{\sigma(t)}{\epsilon}$

$$\dot{p}^{L} = 2\sigma^{2}(t) + 2E(x_{t} - x_{t}^{L})g(t,x_{t}) - 2\frac{c(t)\sigma(t)}{\epsilon}p^{L}$$

Using the Schwartz inequality:

$$E \ ab \le E^{\frac{1}{2}} a^2 \cdot E^{\frac{1}{2}} b^2$$

and the comparison theorem we get $p^{L}(t) \leq u^{L}(t)$ where

$$\dot{u}^{L} = 2\sigma^{2}(t) + 2\theta(t) \left(u^{L}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} - 2\frac{c(t)\sigma(t)}{\epsilon} u^{L}$$
(38)

with

$$\theta(t) = E^{\frac{1}{2}} g^2(t,x_t).$$

Expanding $u^L \sim \sum_{0}^{\infty} u_i^L \epsilon^{\frac{i}{2}}$ in (38) and equating powers of ϵ gives

$$u_0^L = u_1^L = 0$$
 and $u_2^L = \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)}$

hence

$$u^{L}(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon^{\frac{3}{2}})$$
 , $t > 0$

Therefore

$$p(t) = p^{L}(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon)$$
 $t > 0$

Remark (1):

(i) If $\sigma(t) = \sigma$ and c(t) = c then $\dot{u}_1(t) = \dot{l}_1(t) = 0$ and the next terms in the expansion of u(t) and l(t) are:

$$u_2(t) = \frac{1}{c^2} \overline{a}(t)$$
$$l_2(t) = \frac{1}{c^2} \underline{a}(t)$$

so that $u(t) = l(t) + O(\epsilon^3)$ if and only if $\Delta a = 0$, i.e., both g and h are linear.

(ii) In [9], it was shown that for incrementally conic nonlinearities we have the following lower bound L(t):

$$p(t) \geq L(t) = (1 - s(t)) r(t)$$
 (39)

where s(t) is the unique nonnegative root of

$$(1-s(t))e^{s(t)} = e^{-d(t)}$$

$$d(t) = \int_0^t \left[\frac{\Delta a(s)}{\sigma^2(s)} + \frac{\Delta c^2(s)}{\epsilon^2} \right] q(s) ds$$
 (41)

$$\dot{q} = \sigma^2(t) + \frac{c^2(t)}{\epsilon^2} r^2(t) + 2\left[\overline{a}(t) - \frac{c^2(t)}{\epsilon^2} r\right] q$$

$$q(0) = \sigma_0^2$$
(42)

$$\dot{r} = \sigma^{2}(t) + 2a(t)r - \frac{c^{2}(t)}{\epsilon^{2}} r^{2}
r(0) = \sigma_{0}^{2}$$
(43)

From (27) and (33) we readily get that

$$r(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon^2)$$

and it is therefore clear from (39) that if $s(t) = O(\epsilon)$ then $L(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon^2)$ the same as we have just obtained using the Zakai-Bobrovsky lower bound l(t).

This is indeed the case: (42) implies $q(t) = O(\epsilon)$ and (41) that $d(t) = O(\epsilon)$ ($\Delta c = 0$).

Assuming $s(t) \sim \sum_{0}^{\infty} s_n \epsilon^n$ and letting ϵ go to zero in (40) gives that $1 - s_0 = e^{-s_0}$ necessarily. This has the unique solution $s_0 = 0$, hence $s(t) = O(\epsilon)$.

Remark (2): almost linear observations.

The same results in previous proposition can be extended to the particular class of nonlinearities $h \in \langle [c, \Delta c] \rangle$ where Δc is also a small parameter. Indeed; the upper and lower bounds u and l on p(t) and $p'(t) := E(x_t - x_t)^2$ where x_t is the BOF in (1) with cx_t replaced by $h(x_t)$ are given by (33) and (34);

$$u(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{\underline{c}(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon^2)$$

$$= \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)} \epsilon \left(1 + \frac{\Delta c}{c} + O((\Delta c)^2)\right) + O(\epsilon^2)$$

$$= \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)} \epsilon + \frac{1}{c} \epsilon \Delta c + O(\epsilon^2) + \epsilon O((\Delta c)^2)$$

so if $\Delta c \to 0$ we certainly can consider that

$$u(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon^2)$$

Similarly

$$l(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{\overline{c}(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon^2)$$

$$= \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)} \epsilon \left(1 - \frac{\Delta c}{c} + O((\Delta c)^2)\right) + O(\epsilon^2)$$

$$= \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon^2)$$

It is not hard either to establish that for the analogous of the filters 2 and 3 (as in 2 and 3, but with cx replaced by h(x)) the upper bounds are

$$u^{k}(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon^{2})$$

and

$$u^{L}(t) = \frac{r(t)}{\underline{c}(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon^{\frac{3}{2}})$$

which makes these filters asymptotically optimal too as Δc and ϵ become smaller with

$$p(t) = \frac{\sigma(t)}{c(t)} \epsilon + O(\epsilon).$$

6 CONCLUSION

We investigated the asymptotic behavior question of one dimensional nonlinear filtering problems involving drifts with bounded derivatives using an upper and lower bound approach to show that the a priori mean square error associated with some suboptimal filters approaches the optimal one asymptotically.

This approach proved that significant information relevant to this type of problems can be infered from the knowledge of the derivative bounds (i.e., of the cone in which the nonlinearities reside).

In particular, it is shown that in the case of asymptotically time invariant systems for which the limiting system is linear, the "KF" and "SSKF" (designed for the limiting linear system) are asymptotically optimal as $t \to \infty$ (chapter 3). In other words the non-linearity can be ignored as long as the long time behavior is concerned.

The same "KF" designed for the underlying linear system in weakly nonlinear systems is shown to be asymptotically optimal as $\epsilon \to 0$, while a simple asymptotically optimal linear filter, not involving the drift, is provided for nonlinear models with low measurements noise level (chapter 5).

The overall performence of these filters, tough asymptotically optimal, will strongly depend on the derivatives bounds that is on the nonlinearities shape; the more variations there is, the poorest the overall performence.

An attempt to characterize the stationary behavior of the Benes filter has been made in chapter 4 where a partial result was obtained. The global question raised there remains unanswered.

APPENDIX

Theorem (1): comparison theorem [25]

Let F(x,y) and G(x,y) be continuous in the rectangle

D:
$$|x-x_0| < a$$
, $|y-y_0| < b$

and suppose that F(x,y) < G(x,y) everywhere in D. Let y(x) and z(x) be the solutions of

$$\dot{y} = F(x,y)$$
 , $y(x_0) = \alpha$
 $\dot{z} = G(x,y)$, $z(x_0) = \alpha$

Let I be the largest subinterval of $(x_0 - a, x_0 + a)$ where both y(x) and z(x) are defined and continuous; then for $x \in I$

$$egin{array}{llll} z \left(x
ight) & < & y \left(x
ight) & , & x < x_0 \ z \left(x
ight) & > & y \left(x
ight) & , & x > x_0 \end{array}$$

Theorem (2): Perron [26]

If F(t), $f_i(t)$, $t_0 \in [0, \infty[$, i=1,....,n, are real continuous functions of t having finite limits $\lim_{t\to\infty} F(t) = b$, $\lim_{t\to\infty} f_i = a_i$, if the roots λ_i , i=1,...,n of the equation

$$\rho^{n} + a_{1} \rho^{n-1} + \dots + a_{n} = 0$$

are real, distinct, and different from 0, then the equation

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}} y(t) + f_{1}(t) \frac{d^{n-1}}{dt^{n-1}} y(t) + \dots + f_{n}(t) y(t) = F(t)$$
 (*)

has at least one solution y(t) with

$$\lim_{t\to\infty} y(t) = \frac{b}{a_n} \quad , \quad \lim_{t\to\infty} \frac{d^m}{dt^m} y(t) = 0.$$

If $\lambda_i < 0$, $i = 1, \ldots, n$, then all solutions of (*) have these properties.

Theorem (3):

Let A, B and C be $n \times n$, $n \times m$ and $p \times n$ matrices respectively. If the triplet (A, B, C) is minimal then the solution P(t) of the matrix Riccati equation:

$$\dot{P}(t) = B B^{T} + A P(t) + P(t) A^{T} - P(t) C^{T} C P(t)
P(0) = P_{0} \ge 0$$

exists and is a continuous, non-negative monotone $n \times n$ matrice. Furthermore $\lim_{t \to \infty} P(t) = \overline{P}$ where \overline{P} satisfies the algebraic matrix Riccati equation

$$B B^T + A \overline{P} + \overline{P} A^T - \overline{P} B^T B P = 0$$

Proof: see [27], [28], [29].

REFERENCES

- [1] Jazwinski, A.H.: "Stochastic Processes and Filtering Theory", Academic Press, New York, 1970
- [2] Kalman, R.E.: "A New Approach to Linear Filtering and Prediction Problems"
 J.Basic Eng., Trans. ASME, Series D, Vol. 82, #1, March 1960, pp34-35
- Kalman, R.E.; Bucy, R.S.: "New Results in Filtering and Prediction theory", 1961,
 J. Basic Eng, Trans AMSE, Series D, Vol 83, pp 95-107
- [4] Benes, V.E.: "Exact Finite Dimensional Filters for Certain Diffusions with Non-Linear Drifts", Stochastics, 1981
- [5] Wong, W.S.: "New Classes of Finite Dimensional Nonlinear Filters", Systems and Control Letters, 3, 1983, 155-164
- [6] Baras, J.; Blankenship, G.L.; Mitter, S.K.: "Nonlinear Filtering of Diffusion Processes", IFAC, Triennial World Congress, Kyoto, Japan, 1981
- [7] Katzur, R.; Bobrovsky, B.Z; Schuss, Z.: "Asymptotic Analysis of the Optimal Filtering Problem for One Dimensional Diffusions Measured in a Low Noise Channel, Part 1", to appear in SIAM J of Appl Math
- [8] Hazewinkel, M.: "Non Existence of Finite Dimensional Filters for the Conditional Statistics of the Cubic Sensor Problem", Systems and Control Letters, 3, 1983, 331-340
- [9] Bobrovsky, B.Z.; Zakai, M.: "A Lower Bound on the Estimation Error for Certain Diffusion Processes", IEEE, Trans on Inf. Theory, Vol 22, #1, Jan 1976
- [10] Gilman, A.S.; Rhodes, I.B.: "Cone Bounded Nonlinearities and Mean Square Bounds
 Estimation Upper Bounds", IEEE A.C., Vol 18, #6, June 1973, pp 260-265

- [11] Gilman, A.S.; Rhodes, I.B.: "Cone Bounded Nonlinearities and Mean Square Bounds- Estimation Lower Bounds", IEEE A.C., 1976
- [12] Brockett, R.W.: "Asymptotically Optimal Estimation", IEEE, Decision and Control Conference, 1981
- [13] Bobrovsky, B.Z.; Zakai, M.: "Asymptotic Bounds on the Minimal Error of Non Linear Filtering", Hazewinkel, M. and Willems, J.C. (eds), Stochastic Systems: the Mathematics of Filtering and Identification and Applications, 573-581
- [14] Bobrovsky, B.Z.; Zakai, M.: "Asymptotic A Priori Estimates for the Error in the Nonlinear Filtering Problem", IEEE, Trans. on Inf. Theory, Vol 28, March 1982
- [15] Bobrovsky, B.Z.; Geering, H.P.: "Simple and Efficient Linear and Nonlinear Filters by Regular Perturbation Methods", Balakrishnan, A.V. and Thoma, M. (eds), Stochastic Differential Systems, Springer Verlag, 1982
- [16] Davis, M.H.A.: "Linear Estimation and Stochastic Control", Chapman and Hall, 1977
- [17] Arnold, L. : "Stochastic Differential Equations", John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1974
- [18] Bryson, A.E.; Ho, Y.C.: "Applied Optimal Control", HPC, 1975
- [19] Zeitouni, O.: "On the Non-existence of Stationary Diffusions which satisfy the Benes condition", Systems and Control Letters, 3(1983), 329-340.
- [20] Blankenship, G.L.: "Asymptotic Analysis in Mathematical Physics and Control Theory: Some Problems with Common Features", Ricerche di Automatica, Vol. 10, #2, Dec. 1979
- [21] Blankenship, G.L.: "Some Approximation Methods in Nonlinear Filtering", IEEE Control and Decision Proc., 1980, 51-56

- [22] Blankenship, G.L.: "Stability and Control of Stochastic systems with Wide-Band Noise Disturbances. I", SIAM J. Appl. Math., Vol 34, #3, May 1978
- [23] Wonham, W.M.: "Lyapunov Criteria for Weak Stochastic Stability", J. Diff. Equations, 2, 1966, pp 195-207
- [24] Zakai, M.: "A Lyapunov Criterion for the Existence of Stationary Probability Distributions for Systems Perturbed by Noise", SIAM J. of Control, Vol. 7, #3, Aug. 1969
- [25] Hille, E.: "Lecture notes on ODE's", Addison Wesley, 1965.
- [26] Cesari, L.: "Asymptotic Behavior and Stability Problems in Ordinary Differential Equations", Springer Verlag, 1971
- [27] Bucy, R.S; Joseph, P.D: "Filtering for Stochastic Processes with Application to Guidance", N.Y, Interscience Publishers, 1968.
- [28] Wonham, W.M: "On a Matrix Equation of Stochastic Control", SIAM J. of Control, Vol. 6, #4, 1968.
- [29] Kailath, T; Ljung, L: "The Asymptotic Behavior of Constant-coefficient Riccati Differential Equations", IEEE Trans. A.C., 1976, 385-388.

Name stdin

at (0 0 cc)
window (8.5 11 0)
imagesize (8.5 11)
imagespace (0 2550 0 3300)
prerasterization off
stroke 2
autoCRLF off
CRisCRLF off
LFisCRLF off
jamResistance on
pageReversal on
pageCollation off
jobHeader on
copies 1
language imPRESS

System Version 3.1, Serial #85:10:1098

Page images processed: 1 Pages printed: 1

Paper size (width, height): 2560, 3328
Document length: 11143 bytes